
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

LB/COUNCIL/AG 

Please ask for: Lorraine Bush, Democratic Services Manager 
 
17 September 2021 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL - 27 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Council on  
Monday, 27th September, 2021 at 6.30 pm 

in the Conference Centre, Jakemans Community Stadium (Boston United),  
Pilgrim Way, Wyberton, Boston, PE21 7NE 

 
 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 44) 
 

 To sign the minutes of the meetings of the Council held on 15 February,  
1 March, 26 May, 28 June and 2 August 2021. 
 

B.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

C.   COMMUNICATIONS  
 

 To receive communications (if any) from the Mayor and the Chief Executive. 
 

D.   DEPUTATIONS AND PETITIONS  
 

 To receive deputations or petitions (if any) pursuant to Rules 12 and 13 of the 
Council’s Rules of Procedure. 
 

E.   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS  
 

 To answer questions (if any) from elected members pursuant to Rule 11 of the 
Council’s Rules of Procedure. 
 

F.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 To answer questions (if any) from members of the public pursuant to Rule 10 of 
the Council’s Rules of Procedure  
 

G.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 To receive declarations by Members of any interests in respect of items on the 
agenda. 
 

 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES (Pages 45 - 58) 
 

 (To receive the confirmed minutes of the meetings of the Audit and Governance 
Committee held on 25 January and 29 March 2021) 
 

2   SOUTH & EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP - EMPLOYMENT 
COMMITTEES AND OTHER CONSTITUTIONAL MATTERS  
 
TO FOLLOW 
 

3   INQUORATE PARISH COUNCIL (Pages 59 - 64) 
 

 (Report by the Democratic Services Delivery Manager) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor  Paul Skinner 
 

4   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 

 To consider resolving - That under Section 100(A)(iv) of the Local Government Act 
1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) 
Order 2006, the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Order. 
 
 



 
 
 

5   HONORARY FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH (Pages 65 - 68) 
 

  (Report by the Democratic Services Delivery Manager) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor  Paul Skinner 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Questions from Members of the Council and the public must be received by 5 p.m. two 
clear working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting is  

5 p.m. on Wednesday 22 September 2021. 
 

 
 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston Telephone 01205 314224  e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 



This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the meeting of Boston Borough Council held remotely via Zoom, on Monday, 15th 
February, 2021 at 6.30 pm 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Councillor Anton Dani), in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Richard Austin BEM, Alan Bell, 
Peter Bedford, Michael Cooper, George Cornah, Anne Dorrian, Deborah Evans, 
Paul Goodale, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Martin Howard MSc. PCGM, Cert Ed, 
Jonathan Noble, Frank Pickett, Brian Rush, Judith Skinner, Paul Skinner, 
Yvonne Stevens, Chelcei Trafford, Peter Watson, Judith Welbourn, Nigel Welton and 
Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive (Place) & Monitoring Officer, Deputy Chief 
Executive (People), Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy), Section 151 Officer, Assistant 
Director - Support Services & Partnership, Assistant Director – Organisation and 
Corporate Services, Democratic Services Manager and Senior Democratic Services 
Officer 
 
Also attending: 
Councillor Angela Newton, Chairman of Public Sector Partnership Services 
Mr. Lewis Ducket, Chief Executive, Public Sector Partnership Services 
 
MINUTE SILENCE 
 
Prior to the start of the meeting the Mayor invited those in attendance to join him in a 
minutes silence to remember Matt ‘Buzz’ Watson of the Parks and Grounds Team, and 
former Mayors Peter Jordan OBE and Ossy Snell, who had all recently passed away. 
 
125   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting of the Council, held on 23 November 2020, were taken as 
read and signed by the Mayor as a correct record, subject to corrections being made to 
the response given by Councillor Yvonne Stevens to the supplementary question asked 
of her by Mr. Darron Abbott.  
 
126   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors David Brown and Viven Edge. 
 
127   COMMUNICATIONS 

 
The Chief Executive reported that, following changes within memberships of political 
groups, the allocation of committee seats had been revised and circulated to all 
Members for information.  
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item A.



128   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS 
 

The Chief Executive reported there were questions from Councillors George Cornah, 
Tom Ashton, Judith Skinner, Brian Rush, and Anne Dorrian. 
 
Question asked by Councillor George Cornah pursuant to paragraph 10 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Following the announcement of the investment in our town by Plant and Bean will the 
Portfolio Holder explain why the company chose to invest in their global headquarters in 
Boston, and what impact this will have on the local economy in the future.” 
 
Response by Councillor Nigel Welton 
 
“Our whole approach to inward investment is simple; its driven by passion, trust and a 
shared understanding of the needs of the business underpinned by an agile, flexible and 
seamless team approach - and landing Plant & Bean was no exception.  
  
Firstly they chose Boston over two other sites because of the confidence, rapport and 
integrity in the officers of the council during early preliminary and fact finding 
conversations and gave credit to our proactive approach in supporting their needs.  
  
Secondly, how quickly we mobilised a collaborative ‘Touch Down Team’ which they 
could interrogate on how the Council, University of Lincoln, Boston College and DWP 
could work with them on skills, recruitment, supply chain introductions and general 
business support. This approach also gave us the opportunity to reiterated our growth 
vision and the part the Town Deal plays in influencing future investments like this. 
  
Thirdly, was the importance of our embedded relationship with a well-connected food 
sector including logistics, access to the Port, educational links across all levels, a 
connected supply chain (including growers) and a very well-trained workforce. 
  
In regards to the economic impact; the business will over time deliver nearly 500 new 
jobs with a relatively high proportion of those in technical roles requiring higher skill 
levels creating opportunities for up-skilling of local skill sets, resulting in higher wage 
levels, increased productivity and greater spend locally.   
  
Having a major business like Plant & Bean relocate to Boston again is a massive boost 
to our credibility as a place to start, grow and invest and presents the council with a 
great opportunity to move, in part away from agri food to more plant based production 
and manufacturing. It also creates the opportunity to expand and grow a “plant based” 
food cluster and become the “go to location” for this type of food production - creating 
more higher skilled job opportunities, higher wage levels, raised aspirations in our young 
people - all delivering great economic well-being and resilience for the borough and 
what better reason for families to stay or relocate here.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Cornah pursuant to paragraph 10.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 

Page 2



Full Council 
15 February 2021 

 

 
 

“Thank you for the response.  It is really exciting to see this level of investment and 
creation of jobs for Boston and I thank the Economic Development Team for all their 
work on this project.” 
 
Question asked by Councillor Tom Ashton pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Would you agree that this Council has been generously compensated by the 
government for the economic difficulties it and local businesses have faced as a result of 
the Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent national lockdowns?” 
 
Response by Councillor Jonathan Noble  
 
“I agree that our Council has been amply compensated by Central Government for the 
economic difficulties it and local businesses have faced as a result of the pandemic and 
the ensuing national lockdowns.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Ashton pursuant to paragraph 10.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“What specific funding allocation has been made to the Council and local businesses?” 
 
Response by Councillor Noble  
 
We’ve received £5,311,000 in section 31 monies from central government, that’s for 
business rates relief.   
 
We’ve received from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Covid-19 receipts totalling £1,185,000 in four tranches, that’s for lost fees and charges 
income. 
 
We’ve had business grants of £14,430,000 helping 1,245 local businesses. 
 
We’ve received £750,000 from the Towns Fund, it goes into the capital programme. 
 
We’ve received £495,000 from the Community Champions community cohesion grant. 
 
And more recently we’ve received: 
 

 £798,500 in the Local Authority Discretionary Grant scheme; 

 £1,161 360 pounds for the Local Restriction Support Grant Addendum; 

 £1,403,460 for the Additional Restrictions grant; 

 Over £13,000 for the Local Restriction Support grant, which was from 2nd of 
December 2020 to the 19th of the same month. 

 
We also received £127,242 for Local Restriction Support grant closed between 2nd of 
December and 19th of December 
 
We’ve also received £38,400 Christmas Support Payment for wet-led pubs. 
 

Page 3



So, you can see that we’ve been handsomely remunerated or compensated by central 
government for the difficulties we face as a result of the lockdown, but we must be 
careful and we must be cautious because, although central government monies to this 
Council have been very generous this year, we can't anticipate that the same will be true 
in subsequent years.  In fact, it's likely that over time, central government monies to this 
council will progressively diminish and that is we why we have to be so careful in the 
way we allocate and spend our moneys. 
 
Question asked by Councillor Judith Skinner pursuant to paragraph 10 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Would the Leader of the Council agree with me that the Covid 19 Enhanced testing 
stations at Tollfield Road and Peter Paine have been well attended by people in the 
Borough and that they are an ongoing success in slowing the spread of the virus in our 
community. Would he also join me in thanking Officers and volunteers for making the 
process at the stations an easy process for residents?” 
 
Response by the Leader  
 
“Thank you for your question Cllr Skinner. 
 
I most certainly would agree and also thank both those that have used the facilities, 
remembering that identifying every single one of those asymptomatic cases prevents the 
spread of Covid 19 in our community, and all of the staff supporting the Testing Stations 
Officers and Volunteers. 
 
Furthermore I was asked to visit the Sidings and the PRSA vaccination centres, our 
NHS Staff, officers and volunteers are also doing a magnificent job for our community!” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Judith Skinner pursuant to paragraph 
10.6 of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“The testing stations were due to close yesterday, could you provide an update?” 
 
Response by the Leader  
 
“I can confirm that the testing stations open presently will continue to operate until the 
end of February and further confirm there will continue to be a test facility in Boston until 
the end of March.  This will take every single one of these asymptomatic cases out of 
harms way and stop the spread of the disease” 
 
Question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Councillor Abbott, some weeks back I asked you a question regarding the whereabouts 
of around (20) Twenty Pop Up Shelters which were purchased for the launch of a locally 
inspired initiative under the banner of Bargate Green  Co-Operative. 
 
The initiative, was the brainchild of the highly respected locally owned Consultant group 
Anderson and Glenn. 
 

Page 4



Full Council 
15 February 2021 

 

 
 

Would you confirm that there were indeed 25 Shelters purchased, in 2007 at a minimum 
cost of £30,000...of Boston taxpayers money!  
 
I have, as you might expect, looked into this issue, but I feel it is only fair to give you, as 
the Portfolio Holder for the Town Centre, an opportunity to explain their whereabouts, 
and why they are no longer in use on the Green?” 
 
Response by Councillor Tracey Abbott  
 
“I thank Councillor Rush for notice of his question and refer him to the response he was 
provided to a similar question asked at the last meeting of the Council, which is clearly 
set out in the minutes for that meeting attached as part of this agenda.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Rush pursuant to paragraph 10.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“I thank Councillor Abbot for her answer, however I have checked your previous 
response and it is clear to me you have not found the answers and do not know where 
to look to find the information or if you have questioned the fate of the gazebos.   
 
You have simply said they were not robust and of a lighter construction, which may be 
true but I am talking about gazebo stalls and thought everyone would know these, unlike 
market stalls, need to be well anchored down.  All you seem to suggest is that they were 
purchased for use on the Bargate Green market, which is correct.   
 
However, I have information and supporting evidence that the Bargate Green gazebos 
were last seen being used at a local charity event known as the Dragon Boat Race on a 
local drain.  I now have film evidence and have been informed that Council staff lent the 
gazebos out and delivered them to the bankside.  Sadly it seems they carelessly failed 
to secure them with the officially provided anchorages and, as a consequence of being 
left unattended, they blew over and were destroyed.   
 
We need to know who took the initiative to lend the equipment that was purchased using 
Boston ratepayers money and why some people think it was right to loan out equipment 
bought and paid for by the people of Boston then, through carelessness, allowed them 
to be destroyed.   
 
I believe your it is your duty to find out who was responsible for this debacle, find out if 
an insurance claim was made and, if not, report this to the police as a gross misuse of 
public funds and ensure an investigation is initiated.  Accountability is the principle of 
local government, can we rely on you to uphold it? 
 
 
Response by Councillor Abbott  
 
“I thank Councillor Rush for more information on this event.  I did ask for more 
information upon this and thank you for giving this to me.  I shall look into this, which as 
you know is operational information. I will see what I can find and what can be done.” 
 
Councillor Anne Dorrian withdrew her questions.  
 

Page 5



129   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

The Chief Executive reported there were two questions from members of the public. 
 
Question asked by Mr Paul Blackburn pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules of 
Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Can the council legitimately restrict the use of disabled and loading bays, as regulated 
under the Restricted Zone Order 1/3/2017 Boston- Market Place?” 
 
Response by Councillor Tracey Abbott  
 
“I thank Mr. Blackburn for notice of his question and confirm that yes the usage can be 
restricted with a temporary traffic regulation order in place.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Mr. Blackburn pursuant to paragraph 11.8 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“I am not sure you fully understand my question. However this temporary order you refer 
too, must have been breached because, to the best of my knowledge, this practice has 
continued from day 1 (01/03/2017) to today nearly 4 years.  So who at  Boston Borough 
Council authorised and implemented the breach to the order of 01/03/2017 ? 
  
I believe we should have  a full public enquiry because insurances and market traders 
contracts being breached, the deliberate obstruction of disabled and loading bays, 
conflicting parking information,  putting the public, market traders, stall erectors at risk 
under health and safety, let alone operating in contrary to the Charter.” 
 
Response by Councillor Tracey Abbott  
 
“I will provide a written response.” 
 
Question asked by Mr Darron Abbott pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules of 
Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Since last March the world has changed immensely and we still find ourselves in 
unprecedented times. 
 
We have seen the Council staff step up to the plate and have been on the front line 
throughout the year helping protect us from Covid 19 and ensure everything has run 
smoothly and without problems. 
 
Whilst the budget constraints will sadly not allow a remunerative reward to be made 
would the Council consider having a special medal struck and presented to Council staff 
to recognise their heroism and express the thanks of the people of Boston.” 
 
Response by the Leader  
 
“Mr Abbott, thank you for your question.  
 

Page 6



Full Council 
15 February 2021 

 

 
 

I agree wholeheartedly  – our teams have worked incredibly hard over the past year to 
ensure services continue to run, whilst providing our communities with the support they 
need as they respond to Covid-19.  Their efforts have been nothing short of 
monumental.  
  
I must also pay tribute to our partners and other key workers who have also worked 
tirelessly. 
  
Our teams are continuing to respond to the pandemic alongside our partners and in due 
course we will collectively consider how we recognise all those involved in the response 
to Covid-19 in the Borough.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Mr. Abbott pursuant to paragraph 11.8 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“I thank the leader, but is that yes or no to a medal, if not could we think of something 
that will enrich the environment and plant a tree in their honour” 
 
Response by the Leader  

“I think the idea of a tree is really nice, but I think it is a community response so it would 
be nice to get a response from the community to find out who have been the heroes 
during this time and what the community response to that will be. We have Community 
Champions and presentation evenings which they Mayor has attended to present 
awards. It would be a nice and fitting response when we get to the end of this pandemic, 
it has been a hard journey for us all.   
 
130   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
The Monitoring Office advised Council that under the provisions of Section 25 of the 
Localism Act 2011, Members who had previously made a decision on a matter could 
take part in consideration at a later stage of the decision making process on the same 
topic if they maintained on open mind. 
 
However, it was apparent that some Members had made comment on social media 
platforms suggesting they would be voting against the matter under consideration at the 
meeting, implying they had a closed mind which was incompatible with the legislation.  It 
was recommended that, if Members had made such statements, they may wish to 
consider making a declaration that, irrespective of previous statements, they had an 
open mind on the decision to be made.  
 
Councillor Tom Ashton declared an interest as an Elected Member of East Lindsey 
District Council, a partner organisation in PSPS Ltd., but had made no comment when 
the decision had been considered by East Lindsey District Council. The only public 
comments had been made at the meeting of the Corporate and Community Committee 
and he came to debate with an open mind.  
 
Councillor Neil Hastie stated that he had an open mind regardless of comments posted 
on social media.  
 
 

Page 7



131   PROPOSAL FOR BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL TO BECOME A 
SHAREHOLDER IN PUBLIC SECTOR PARTNERSHIP SERVICES LIMITED 
 

Prior to the introduction of the report by the Portfolio Holder, the Mayor invited Mr. Lewis 
Ducket, Chief Executive of Public Sector Partnership Services Limited (PSPS Ltd) to 
address the Council. 
 
Mr. Ducket outlined the benefits of the Council joining PSPS Ltd including achieving cost 
savings, investment in IT systems, creating capacity and resilience to improve services, 
and development opportunities for transferring staff.  The Council would not be losing 
control over services as it would effectively co-own the company and have 
representation on the Board.  
 
Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance and Commerce, introduced the 
report setting out the proposal for the Council to become a third shareholder in PSPS 
Ltd with East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) and South Holland District Council 
(SHDC), to deliver the back office services for the Council, including Finance, Human 
Resources, Health and Safety, Customer Services, Revenues and Benefits, Information 
Technology and Digital Services. 
 
The report stated that PSPS Ltd was as a Local Authority Trading Company (LATCo) 
and was overseen by a Board of Directors appointed by each shareholder organisation. 
It operated at ‘arms length’ with activities and strategic direction influenced by a group of 
stakeholders drawn from the Councils involved.   
 
The delivery model was principally a collaborative partnership with services delivered 
through a commissioning type arrangement and underpinned by agreed standards of 
service which were reviewed on an annual basis to enable each Council to deliver their 
strategic plans and priorities.  
 
Having recently completed its first ten year contract and delivered annual savings of 
£2.1m, PSPS Ltd had secured a further ten year contract to deliver its services to ELDC 
and SHDC with a commitment to an agreed new programme of transformation and 
efficiency savings that would generate cumulative savings over the twenty year contract 
period of £25.8m for the current shareholder councils.  
 
As part of the new ten year contract extension to 2030, the Board of Directors and 
existing shareholder Councils had agreed to explore growth opportunities with Councils 
across Lincolnshire.  In October 2020, PSPS had approached Boston Borough Council 
to explore such an opportunity for the Council to join neighbouring Councils as a third 
shareholder of PSPS. 
 
Since the initial approach to the Council, PSPS had completed outline business case 
principles which had subsequently been reviewed by stakeholder representatives at 
both ELDC and SHDC and approved by the PSPS Board of Directors in December 
2020.  In January 2021 both ELDC and SHDC as existing shareholders took formal 
decisions to invite Boston BC to become a third shareholder and both Councils had 
approved an invitation offer to Boston BC. Shareholding equity between the Councils 
would stand at 48% ELDC; 28% SHDC and 24% Boston BC and Boston BC would have 
two Director positions on the Board of shareholders. 
 

Page 8



Full Council 
15 February 2021 

 

 
 

Subject to approval by Full Council, all Councils would work towards the transition of 
services from 1 April 2021 in order to meet the agreement of the existing shareholders 
and to allow the arrangement to commence at the start of the financial year, which was 
important for operational considerations.  
 
The performance of PSPS would be reported through the Council’s performance and 
management framework and scrutiny work plans.  An annual Member Briefing would 
also be delivered.  
 
The Business Case was appended to the report and detailed the principles concerning 
the management of people, the operational management and the financial implications.  
PSPS supported and developed its employees through its Workforce Development Plan 
(attached at Appendix B of the report) which was inclusive and focused around 
attracting and retaining talent, raising skills and standards, supporting health and 
wellbeing, rewarding and recognising its staff and working together for the future. 
 
The Business Case set out the benefits for the Council joining PSPS as a shareholder, 
including: 
 

 A financial saving of circa £627k over five years, increasing to £1.8m over ten 
years which would reduce the financial risks the Council currently faced within the 
medium term financial plan and potential for further risks associated with the 
financial outcomes of the pandemic. 

 

 Investment in IT and digital infrastructure over two years at a cost of £634k as 
opposed to £825k if the Council were to complete the work ‘in house’, which 
represented a capital saving of £191k enabling the Council to invest in other 
projects prioritised within the Capital Programme.  

 

 Sharing of future infrastructure development costs resulting in further savings 
over the longer term. 

 

 One off cost of £6k to join as a shareholder for necessary legal representation to 
review and update the PSPS Joint Venture Shareholder’s Agreement (JVSA) and 
Articles of Association to amend shareholder provisions and draft and finalise 
other associated documents. 

 

 Greater level of resilience in the provision of back office services to cover 
vacancies as and when they arose and have a stronger pull within the market 
place when recruiting. 

 

 The transfer of services would create a level of capacity for staff not transferring 
to support the delivery of services and projects which had a notional value of 
£285k over five years and £570k over ten years. 

 

 Working across a consortium of neighbouring authorities PSPS would be in a 
better position to safeguard the jobs of the Council’s staff transferring into the 
company in the long term and could also offer a wider range of opportunities for 
career progression than the Council. 

 

Page 9



 The proposal was in line with the Council’s 4th priority within its 2020 – 2024 
Corporate Strategy in ‘delivering high quality services and maximising use of 
technology and data to reduce costs and improve performance and efficiency.’ 

 

 The ability to collaborate through a strategic partnership in advance of further 
debates that were anticipated in relation to local government re-organisation. 

 
Consultation had commenced with affected employees via service specific briefing 
sessions held in December 2020 hosted by the Chief Executive.  Further informal staff 
engagement was on-going through respective staff forums and Service Managers for 
the areas subject to potential transfer had been offered one to one sessions with PSPS.  
If the proposal was approved by Council a formal staff consultation process would 
commence. 
 
The proposal had also been the topic for two Member Briefings in advance of 
consideration by the Corporate and Community Committee and Cabinet who had 
referred the recommendations to Council for approval. 
 
During debate the following comments were made: 
 

 It was important that Boston did not lose its identity and become a puppet of 
neighbouring councils by joining PSPS. 

 The report provided no alternative options to consider, going out to the ‘market 
place’ should be considered before committing to PSPS. 

 The arrangement would be inequitable as Boston would be a minority on the 
Board with no voting rights. 

 The financial health of the organisation was concerning. 

 The powers of Members would be diminished as decision making would be taken 
away from the Council and delegated to the Chief Executive. 

 Clarification if the administration group Members had been ‘whipped’ in respect of 
the decision. 

 Staff had to be the main priority and transferring did not reflect well with the 
public.  

 TUPE was not worth the paper it was written on and the Council had a duty to 
protect its staff. 

 The need to invest so heavily in IT was a result of the administration running it 
into the ground and a dereliction of duty.  Reserves should be used for this 
purpose rather than joining PSPS.  

 Year on year savings were required to be made whilst maintaining service 
delivery and business continuity and joining PSPS would provide this.  

 The Council needed to invest heavily in IT infrastructure in the estimated amount 
of £825k if undertaken in house.  Working with PSPS would achieve a saving of 
£191k.  

 The proposal put forward had been carefully put together and scrutinised to 
deliver improved services and protect employees.  

 This would be the first step in a larger strategic alliance and an opportunity to 
work with other councils before local government re-organisation was brought 
forward.  

 This would be an opportunity for development of services, staff and provide 
resilience in service areas where needed.  

Page 10



Full Council 
15 February 2021 

 

 
 

 The PSPS contract with ELDC and SHDC had been in place for 10 years and 
proved successful.  

 
In summing up, Councillor Jonathan Noble stated that valid points had been made and 
responded to the comments raised during debate including: 
 

 Staff consultation had commenced in December 2020; 

 Necessary investment in IT and long term savings; 

 PSPS delivery record to founder councils; 

 The need to create greater resilience within service areas; 

 Annual negotiation of service level agreements; 

 Adherence to the Lincolnshire County Council pension scheme for transferring 
staff; 

 Minimal joining cost to the Council of £6k; 

 Integrity of the council would remain intact. 

 Conservative Members had a free vote on the proposal. 
 
A procedural motion was moved by Councillor Anne Dorrian and seconded by 
Councillor Aaron Spencer that the vote be taken by means of a recorded vote. 
 
On being put to the vote the procedural motion was carried.   
 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble, seconded by Councillor George 
Cornah and  
 

 

RESOLVED  

1. That the proposal for Boston Borough Council to become a shareholder in 

Public Sector Partnership Services Limited and transfer its Financial 

Services, Human Resources, Customer Services, Revenues & Benefits, 

Information Technology & Digital services and Health & Safety teams into 

the company be approved. 

2. That delegated authority be granted to the Chief Executive, in consultation 

with the Leader of the Council, the agreement of, and signing of, the 

contract and associated documents to join Public Sector Partnership 

Services Limited including those linked to the pension fund 

3. That delegated authority be granted to the Chief Executive and S151 Officer, 

in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder, to approve or reject 

individual business cases for each element of the Transformation Plan. 

 

 
For    Against    Abstain 
 
Abbott    Bedford    Howard 
Ashton   Bell 
A Austin   Cooper 

Page 11



R Austin   Dorrian 
Cornah   Goodale 
Dani    Hastie 
Evans    Rush 
Griggs    Spencer 
Noble    Watson 
Pickett   Woodliffe 
J Skinner 
P Skinner 
Stevens 
Trafford 
Welbourn 
Welton 

 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble and seconded by Councillor George 
Cornah that: 
 
That the appointment of the Portfolio Holder – Finance & Commercial and one Member 
from any of the Opposition Groups to the 2 Director posts on PSPS be approved and 
those appointments to be effective until May 2023.    
 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Anne Dorrian and seconded by 
Councillor Michael Cooper: 
 
To approve the Portfolio Holder – Finance and Commercial and one member from the 
Opposition, who will be chosen by the Opposition Groups, to be appointed to the 2 
Director posts on PSPS and that appointment to be effective until May 2023. Thereafter, 
both the ruling group and the opposition will continue to select their own candidate for 
the two Director posts. 
 
The Monitoring Officer confirmed that if the amendment was carried the Opposition 
Group nomination would be required to be approved at a future meeting of the Council.  
 
On being put to the vote the amendment was lost. 
 
On returning to the substantive motion, Councillor Alison Austin nominated Councillor 
Alan Bell to be appointed to the opposition Member Director post.  This was seconded 
by Councillor Judith Welbourn.  
 
The substantive motion was then put to the vote and it was  
 

 
RESOLVED that the appointment of the Portfolio Holder – Finance & Commercial 
and Councillor Alan Bell as an Opposition Group Member to the 2 Director posts 
on PSPS be approved and those appointments to be effective until May 2023, 
whilst they remain Members of the Council, or until the appointment of their 
successors. 
 

 
 

(The meeting ended at 9.10 pm) 

Page 12



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the meeting of Boston Borough Council held remotely via Zoom, on Monday, 1st 
March, 2021 at 6.30 pm 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Councillor Anton Dani), in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Richard Austin BEM, Alan Bell, 
Peter Bedford, David Brown, Michael Cooper, George Cornah, Anne Dorrian, 
Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Jonathan Noble, 
Frank Pickett, Brian Rush, Judith Skinner, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, 
Peter Watson, Judith Welbourn, Nigel Welton and Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive (Place) & Monitoring Officer, Deputy Chief 
Executive (Strategy), Section 151 Officer, Accountancy Manager - Revenues and 
Systems, Democratic Services Manager, Senior Democratic Services Officer and 
Democratic Services Apprentice 
 
132   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Viven Edge, Martin Howard and 
Chelcei Trafford. 
 
133   COMMUNICATIONS 

 
The Chief Executive reminded Members that, in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, all votes on the council 
tax and budget setting report would be taken as recorded votes.  
 
134   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS 

 
The Chief Executive reported there were questions from Councillors Anne Dorrian and 
Brian Rush. 
 
Question asked by Councillor Anne Dorrian pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“You recently reported that you visited the COVID testing stations to say ‘thank you’ to 
volunteers. Given the current restrictions, isn’t that something which could have been 
done in writing or by hosting a virtual meeting?” 
 

Response by Councillor Paul Skinner  
 
“Cllr Dorrian, once again you seem confused, I visited the Tollfied Road facility as a 
customer and thanked them in my brief and via the bulletin. 
“I, as Leader of the Council, was invited by the NHS to visit the Vaccination Centre.  A 
number of other Leaders from across the County were also invited to attend their local 
sites.  I took the opportunity to say thank you to those working there on behalf of the 
Council to show our collective appreciation for their hard work.” 
 

Page 13



 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Dorrian pursuant to paragraph 10.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“Thank you for that, Councillor Skinner.  I appreciate your answer.  Currently we’re 
under COVID restrictions and, just watching the presentation on TV this evening, we’re 
still under “Stay At Home, Protect the NHS and Save Lives”.  So, my question’s in two 
parts if you will, Councillor Skinner. 
 
Part A is, local residents have complained to me that people are getting cabin fever and 
one local resident complained to me that her neighbour leaves home upwards of 12 
times a day – what advice would you give that member of our local community? 
 
Part B is that numerous local residents have contacted me, wishing to express their 
gratitude to Jonathan Van Tam, especially as he seems to have single-handedly painted 
this town in a very favourable light.  Would you commit, Councillor Skinner, to 
participating in a cross-party working group within our Council so that we could find a 
way to honour his contribution to the public health of our community and the public 
health of the UK in general?” 
 
Response by Councillor Paul Skinner 
 
“Thank you, Councillor Dorrian, for your question.    
 
When people are abiding by the restrictions and see other people not complying it’s 
extremely frustrating and not everybody wants to be the nosy neighbour and dob them 
in, but obviously you’ve got the opportunity to use 101, or e-mail 101, and that would be 
the correct route.   
 
As regards JVT, as he’s known in the trade, absolutely fantastic gentleman, an absolute 
asset to this town and, yes, I would be quite, quite willing to take part in anything to 
actually honour him because he honours the town every time he stands up.   
Thank you very much.” 
 
Question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Can the residents and ratepayers of Boston Borough Council, be provided with a clear 
and concise explanation as to why and when this Administration has unilaterally 
curtailed the ‘democratic rights’ of the Public to engage personally in delivering 
questions to their Elected Representatives, and instead obliged the Worshipful Mayor, to 
present their questions on their behalf, what was the reasoning behind this?” 
 
Response by Councillor Paul Skinner  
 
“The introduction of The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) England & Wales 
Regulations 2020, provided local authorities the ability to hold meetings remotely  to 
avoid having to meet face to face and risk the further spread of covid-19.  
In response to those Regulations the Chief Executive, in consultation with all Group 
Leaders, used emergency powers to implement the Remote Meetings Procedure Rules 

Page 14



Full Council 
1 March 2021 

 

 
 

which, to aid the management of remote meetings, suspended the requirement for 
members of the public to attend meetings in person to ask their questions and instead 
are directed via the Mayor or Chairman of the meeting.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Rush pursuant to paragraph 10.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“I want to thank Councillor Skinner for his answer.  However, I would like to say, are we 
really so dependent on Big Brother that our peers consider us incapable of participating 
in a virtual reality exercise or is this yet another surrender by our ruling Conservative 
Group who have forgotten how to lobby our own MP?” 
 
Response by Councillor Skinner  
 
“Thank you, Councillor Rush.  We have had quite a national pandemic.  It has not 
allowed people to meet face to face unless you’ve got the space round them.  And, quite 
frankly, until the four tests that the Government have set, all the early restrictions, the 
earliest date is 21st June.  And, basically, it is a way the questions can still be asked, but 
I, like you, would prefer to see people face to face and let’s hope people will value our 
freedoms and, therefore, actually follow the rules so we can get out this crisis quite quick 
because I, like you, I prefer face to face, thank you.” 
 
Question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Can You tell me, when it was, that this Council passed a directive to begin allowing 
vehicles to park overnight in Boston Market Place, and what charge is levied to the 
owners for doing so?” 
 
Response by Councillor Tracey Abbott 
 
“The Council has not passed a directive to allow vehicles to park overnight in Boston 
Market Place.  
 
The Markets team have allowed the butchers van to park in the events space the night 
before Markets on a trial period, if this is causing an obstruction, issues or complaints 
we will happily review this process. No charge is currently levied for this van.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Rush pursuant to paragraph 10.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“Thank you Councillor Abbott.  So is this overnight accommodation being provided free 
of charge to this particular vendor?  If so, maybe we can begin to allow all our 
stallholders to pull up and stay overnight before the market.  I have many photographs 
of bad practice being allowed to take place in the market place.  I thought we already 
had a stopover site at the stock entrance, but they are maybe charging for that.  So, 
Councillor Abbott, tell me, how much do we charge him for stopover electric?  Whose 
responsibility is it if his truck gets broken into in the dead of night and his stock gets 
stolen or infected?  What if a resident trips over one of his unprotected cables that are 
left out in the market place?  Does our liability really cover such events?  Don’t you think 

Page 15



it’s time our Markets Manager started properly applying all the regulations within our 
markets policies before someone gets injured or killed?” 
 
Response by Councillor Abbott 
 
“Thank you for your supplementary.  As I have just stated, there is no charge being 
levied for the van.  As for the electric, I do not know, I can find that out for you.  As I 
believe, anybody who would approach us who, especially during COVID, needs this 
requirement, I’m sure our staff and team will listen to every effort to make it possible.  I 
shall get back to you about your second part of your supplementary.  Thank you 
Councillor Rush.” 
 
135   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
The Chief Executive reported there were two questions from members of the public. 
 
Question asked by Mr Darron Abbott pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules of 
Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“A couple of year ago the Council invested around £20 million pound in property funds. 
Please could you give the current valuations of these funds and the income received by 
the council from these funds in the current financial years.” 
 
Response by Councillor Jonathan Noble 
 
“‘Thank you for your question Mr Abbott. I would point out that there is a typographical 
error in the response provided to Mr. Abbott and the year quoted should be 2020/21 not 
2021/22. The current valuation of our Property Funds’ investments is £19,152.000. We 
budget to receive £977,000 per annum as a return on our Property Funds’ investments 
and the latest projection for this financial year, 2020-21, is that the return will be 
£897,000.  
 
The Council has received £2 million in dividends from our property fund investments in 
the last 4 years. 
 
This information is in the public domain. It is presented to the Audit and Governance 
Committee. The last meeting of this Committee was on 25th January and details are to 
be found in the Treasury Management and Capital Strategy.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Mr. Abbott pursuant to paragraph 11.8 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“I thank Councillor Noble for his answer.  
 
You seem to have misunderstood part of my question. I asked for the investment 
income for the current financial year which I believe to be 2020/2021 but you have 
supplied the figure for 2021/22. Please could you let me have this figure as I am sure 
you will have it at hand considering how easily you answered my supplementary 
question at cabinet last week . 
 

Page 16



Full Council 
1 March 2021 

 

 
 

Now on to my supplementary question. I have concerns about the budget you are laying 
before the Council this evening you state that for the year 2021/22 you will expect to 
receive £897,000 but on page 16 of the report does state a return of £977,000 so your 
budgeted income for next year is already £90,000 short so how can you be confident 
that next year you can deliver a balanced budget.” 
 
Response by Councilor Noble  

“I thank Mr. Abbott for his question.  I answered the point in the prequel to the original 
question, there was a typographical error and the correct date is 2020/21. 
 
I take exception to being accused of lying to Council or to anyone.  Looking at appendix 
1 financial figures, the projected income for property funds in 2020/21, 2021/22 and 
2022/23 is the same figure. 
 
Now Mr. Abbott alleges a £90k shortfall, the answer is simple, we have actually 
exceeded expectations on returns on property funds.  The estimate was an under 
estimate, and performance was better than expected.  I have been assured by the 
Section 151 Officer, who has been in consultation with the Property Fund Managers, 
that the same will happen the following year.  Mr. Abbott should be pleased we are 
exceeding expectations and doing better than first thought.” 
 
Question asked by Mr Paul Blackburn pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules of 
Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Are there any legal implications if council officers give wrong information so Councillors 
can vote at any meetings.” 
 
Response by Councillor Paul Skinner  
 
“Thank you for your question Mr Blackburn. 
 
Our officers always ensure that councillors have all the relevant information before them 
to enable decisions to be made that are lawful.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Mr. Blackburn pursuant to paragraph 11.8 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“I accept your response but totally do not agree with it. So would you begin a full open 
legal investigation to the whereabouts of all the monies this council has spent and lost in 
the setting up of the Bargate Green cooperative market which never got off the ground, 
yet the councillors voted on its implementation, and would give a verbal and written 
response?” 
 
Response by Councillor Skinner  
 
“This happened before my time as a Councillor.  I will provide a written response.” 
 
136   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
No declarations of interest were received. 

Page 17



 
137   AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 
It was moved by Councillor Tom Ashton, seconded by Councillor George Cornah 
and  
 

 
RESOLVED that the confirmed minutes of the meeting of the Audit and 
Governance Committee held on 9 November 2020 be received.  
 

 
138   PUBLIC SPEAKING - PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
Councillor Tom Ashton, Chairman of the Planning Committee, introduced a report on a 
proposal to amend the Council’s Remote Meetings Protocol and Procedure Rules to 
introduce public speaking at remote meetings of the Planning Committee and adopt the 
revised procedures as the Public Speaking Scheme for physical meetings of the 
Planning Committee when resumed for the purposes of consistency.  
 
The report stated that in response to the Covid-19 pandemic the Government had 
introduced legislation that permitted local authority meetings to take place by remote 
means until 7 May 2021. 
 
At the time of introducing remote meetings, concerns had been raised regarding the 
effective application of public speaking rules at meetings of the Planning Committee.  In 
response, it had been agreed to suspend the public speaking procedures and replace 
them with the submission of written representations.  
 
Having gained experience and knowledge of operating remote meetings and having had 
the opportunity to learn from authorities that operated public speaking, the Council was 
now in a stronger position to effectively implement public speaking at meetings of the 
Planning Committee.  It was therefore proposed to introduce public speaking from 9 
March 2021 based on the protocol attached as an appendix to the report.  
 
To provide consistency with public speaking at both remote and physical meetings of the 
Planning Committee, it was also recommended that the Public Speaking Protocol for 
physical meetings of the Planning Committee be revised to adopt the procedures as set 
out in the protocol for remote meetings.  The key revisions were: 

 

 Registration for speaking deadline changed from 12 noon on the day 
before the day of the meeting to 12 noon 2 clear working days before the 
day of the meeting. 

 Speaking time for all categories, with the exception of Ward Member, to be 
limited to 3 minutes, currently 5 minutes was allowed. 

 Ward Member speaking time to be limited to 5 minutes, currently unlimited 
time was allowed.  

 Only one person to speak in each category of objector, supporter, 
applicant/agent. Should more than one person wish to speak in any of 
those categories it would be for those persons to agree between 
themselves who would speak.  If this was not possible, the first registered 

Page 18



Full Council 
1 March 2021 

 

 
 

speaker would be allocated the speaking time. The current protocol 
allowed speaking time to be shared up to the time limit. 

 Committee Members would be given the opportunity to ask questions of 
speakers for a maximum of 10 minutes.  Direct questioning of speakers 
was not currently permitted. 
 

Should unforeseen issues arise or further best practice be identified it was important that 
public speaking rules were able to be amended in a timely fashion to facilitate the 
effective operation of the Committee. In those circumstances it was considered 
appropriate and was recommended that the Council delegated to the Assistant Director 
of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Committee and Portfolio 
Holder for Planning, the power to amend public speaking rules for remote and physical 
Planning Committee meetings.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Tom Ashton and seconded by Councillor Alison 
Austin  
 
1. That Council approves the introduction of public speaking at remote 

meetings of Planning Committee from 9 March 2021 and that the Council’s 
Remote Meetings Protocol and Procedure Rules be amended as set out in 
this report. 
 

2. That the Public Speaking Protocol for physical meetings of the Planning 
Committee be revised to reflect the registration deadlines, number of 
speakers and time limit on speaking within the protocol for remote 
meetings, for purposes of consistency. 

 
3. That any further amendments to the Public Speaking Protocol for both 

remote and physical meetings of the Planning Committee, be delegated to 
the Assistant Director of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Planning Committee and the Portfolio Holder for Planning. 

 
Members welcomed the proposal to introduce public speaking for remote meetings of 
the Planning Committee, but were concerned that reducing the speaking time to three 
minutes would create difficulties for members of the public who may not be used to 
speaking in public. 
 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Anne Dorrian that the allowance of three 
minutes speaking time, as set out in 1.3 of the protocol, be increased to five minutes. 
 
The proposer and seconder of the substantive motion agreed to accept the amendment. 
 
The substantive motion was put to the vote and it was  
 

 
RESOLVED  
 

1. That Council approves the introduction of public speaking at remote 
meetings of Planning Committee from 9 March 2021 and that the Council’s 
Remote Meetings Protocol and Procedure Rules be amended as set out in 

Page 19



the report, with the exception of the allowance for speaking time which 
should be amended to five minutes. 
 

2. That the Public Speaking Protocol for physical meetings of the Planning 
Committee be revised to reflect the registration deadlines, number of 
speakers and time limit on speaking within the protocol for remote 
meetings, for purposes of consistency. 
 

3. That any further amendments to the Public Speaking Protocol for both 
remote and physical meetings of the Planning Committee, be delegated to 
the Assistant Director of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Planning Committee and the Portfolio Holder for Planning. 

 

 
139   2021/22 BUDGET REPORT, MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND 

COUNCIL TAX 
 

Councillor Jonathan Noble introduced a report by the Chief Finance Officer which 
outlined the 2021/2022 revenue and capital position for the General Fund and proposals 
for the setting of discretionary fees and charges.  
 
The Local Government Act 2003 introduced a requirement for the Chief Financial Officer 
to report on the robustness of the budget. The estimates had been prepared in a 
prudent manner, although it was highlighted that there were a number of elements 
outside of the Council’s control. These had been identified within the report and would 
be mitigated through the budget monitoring and risk management processes of the 
Council. 
 
The proposed budget showed a balanced position for 2021/22 followed by the need to 
make approximately £500K of savings in future years in order to maintain a balanced 
budget position without drawing down on reserves.  
 
The capital programme totalled £4.8m over 5 years which remained affordable and 
sustainable over that period. 
 
The budget assumed an increase in the Council Tax of £4.95 (2.57%) for 2021/22 and 
2% per annum thereafter.  This was in line with current known referendum limits of £5 or 
2% whichever was the greater.  The proposed increase allowed for £36k growth for 
implementation of the Living Wage Foundation and £60k for Internal Drainage Board 
Levy increases to be absorbed.  There was also a £100k provision for potential sales 
and fees income shortfalls, following additional risks to income collection levels. 
 
For future years it was expected that the predicted deficit would be approximately £500k 
per annum.  This had been reduced by around £200k per annum following the Council’s 
decision to enter into a shared arrangement for back office functions with PSPSL.  It was 
expected that the required savings could at least partially be offset by further Strategic 
Alliance savings, and other service reviews that would be undertaken during the 
following year.  
 
It was noted that the Council was expected to hold around £13m in reserves at the end 
of 2021/22. 

Page 20



Full Council 
1 March 2021 

 

 
 

 
When introducing the report, the Portfolio Holder referred to the funds received from 
central government to compensate for losses incurred as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic lockdowns.  A prudent approach had been adopted to recognise reductions in 
funding from government in future years and the proposal under consideration was a 
balanced recovery budget. 
 
The draft budget had been published on the Council’s website for consultation with all 
stakeholders, including the local business community and responses were set out in 
Appendix 9 of the report.  In addition Members had been consulted through various 
forums including the Corporate and Community Committee, and Audit and Governance 
Committee on the governance aspects of the budget preparation and comments were 
set out in Appendices 10 and 11 respectively.   
 
Cabinet had considered the report at its meeting on 24 February and recommended the 
budget and medium term financial strategy 2021/22 to 2025/26 to Council for approval.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble and seconded by Councillor Paul 
Skinner  
 

1. That the Council approves capital and revenue budgets for 2021/22, the 5 

years Medium-Term Financial Strategy for 2021/22 to 2025/26 and the 

associated financial strategies as shown in the attached budget setting 

report. 

 
2. That the Council agrees the formal Council Tax resolutions as detailed at 

Appendix 12 and 13 (Parishes, BTAC special expense, the County Council 
and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lincolnshire are also dealt with 
as a part of this resolution). This includes a 2.57% increase in Boston’s 
element of the Council Tax, the Band D Council Tax being £197.91. 

 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Anne Dorrian and seconded by 
Councillor Peter Watson:- 
 
That there be a zero increase in the Boston Borough Council element of the 
council tax for 2021/22. 
 
The Section 151 Officer advised Council that if a zero increase was agreed, there would 
be a deficit of £100k which would need to be funded from reserves in order to achieve a 
balanced budget.  It would also result in £500k of lost income to the Council in future 
years.  The impact on council tax bills would be a reduction of £3.30 for Band A, £3.80 
for Band B and £4.95 for Band D. 
 
Debate ensued on the merits of the substantive motion and the amendment, key points 
being made of:- 
 

 Boston was one of the poorest areas of the County with lowest incomes and 
every penny counted to many people.   

 It was important to recognise the welfare of people. 

 People deserved a break after suffering a year with the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Page 21



 Reserves should be used to balance the budget for 2021/22 and help the 
community. 

 The impact on future years and necessary savings if a zero increase was agreed. 

 It was important to provide the services residents needed and could only be 
maintained by increasing council tax.  

 An alternative budget should have been produced to demonstrate the cuts which 
would be made in future years to compensate for a zero increase.  

 Investment was required in services to improve the cleanliness of the town, HMO 
inspections and enforcement etc. 

 
On being put to the vote the amendment was lost. 
 
 For    Against   Abstain 
 
 Bedford   Abbott 
 Bell    Ashton 
 Cooper   A. Austin 
 Dorrian   R. Austin 
 Hastie    Brown 
 Rush    Cornah 
 Watson   Dani  
 Welbourn   Evans 
 Woodliffe   Goodale 
     Griggs 
     Noble 
     Pickett 
     J. Skinner 
     P. Skinner 
     Stevens  
     Welton 
 
The substantive motion was put to the vote and it was  
 

 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the Council approves capital and revenue budgets for 2021/22, the 5 

years Medium-Term Financial Strategy for 2021/22 to 2025/26 and the 

associated financial strategies as shown in the attached budget setting 

report. 

 
2. That the Council agrees the formal Council Tax resolutions as detailed at 

Appendix 12 and 13 (Parishes, BTAC special expense, the County Council 
and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lincolnshire are also dealt with 
as a part of this resolution). This includes a 2.57% increase in Boston’s 
element of the Council Tax, the Band D Council Tax being £197.91. 

 

 
 
 

Page 22



Full Council 
1 March 2021 

 

 
 

For    Against   Abstain 
  
 Abbott    Bedford 
 Ashton   Bell 

A. Austin   Cooper 
R. Austin   Dorrian 
Brown    Goodale 
Cornah   Hastie 
Dani    Rush 
Evans    Watson 
Griggs    Welbourn 
Noble    Woodliffe 
Pickett 
J. Skinner 
P. Skinner 
Stevens 
Welton 

 
 

Page 23



COUNCIL TAX RESOLUTIONS 
 

1. it be noted that on 1 March 2021 the Council calculated the Council Tax Base 2021/22. 
 (a)  for the whole Council area as 19,621.70; and 
 (b)  for dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish precept relates as in the table below: 
  

 2020/2021 2021/2022   

Parts of the Council’s Area: 
Parishes of 

 
Tax Base 

 
Precepts 

 
(£) 

Council 
Tax 

Band D 
(£) 

 
Tax Base 

 
Precepts 

 
(£) 

Council 
Tax 

Band D 
(£) 

C/Tax 
Increase/

(Decr) 
(£) 

 

C/Tax 
Increase/

(Decr) 
(%) 

 

Algarkirk 103.50 7,727.40 74.66 102.50 8,837.40 86.22 11.56 15.48 

Amber Hill 87.10 3,419.00 39.25 87.60 3,499.00 39.94 0.69 1.76 

Benington 160.70 17,500.00 108.90 165.20 17,500.00 105.93 (2.97) (2.73) 

Bicker 280.30 25,000.00 89.19 276.70 25,550.00 92.34 3.15 3.53 

Butterwick 404.20 30,000.00 74.22 409.70 30,000.00 73.22 (1.00) (1.35) 

Fishtoft 2,131.60 33,624.30 15.77 2,167.30 32,739.00 15.11 (0.66) (4.19) 

Fosdyke 146.50 12,000.00 81.91 147.60 12,600.00 85.37 3.46 4.22 

Frampton 457.90 22,880.10 49.97 459.90 22,880.10 49.75 (0.22) (0.44) 

Freiston 328.80 30,000.00 91.24 329.30 32,500.00 98.69 7.45 8.17 

Holland Fen with Brothertoft 201.10 3,250.00 16.16 197.00 3,250.00 16.50 0.34 2.10 

Kirton 1,625.70 70,000.00 43.06 1,671.50 75,000.00 44.87 1.81 4.20 

Leverton 195.00 15,000.00 76.92 195.60 15,000.00 76.69 (0.23) (0.30) 

Old Leake 644.10 42,096.00 65.36 649.50 42,096.00 64.81 (0.55) (0.84) 

Sutterton 521.50 28,350.00 54.36 528.60 29,767.00 56.31 1.95 3.59 

Swineshead 943.20 32,332.00 34.28 979.60 33,756.00 34.46 0.18 0.53 

Wigtoft 146.30 9,115.00 62.30 149.20 10,211.00 68.44 6.14 9.86 

Wrangle 440.30 21,000.00 47.69 442.10 22,000.00 49.76 2.07 4.34 

Wyberton 1,129.10 50,875.00 45.06 1,156.90 50,875.00 43.98 (1.08) (2.40) 

Sub-Total: Parishes 9,946.90 454,168.80 45.66 10,115.80 468,060.50 46.27 0.61 1.34 
         

Boston Special Expense Area 9,306.00 702,696.00 75.51 9,505.90 716,192.00 75.34 (0.17) (0.20) 
         

Total 19,252.90 1,156,864.80 60.09 19,621.70 1,184,252.50 60.35 0.26 0.43 

P
age 24



Full Council 
1 March 2021 

 

 
 

 
2. Calculate that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 2021/22 (excluding Parish precepts) is 

£3,883,331. 
 
3. That the following amounts be calculated for the year 2021/22 in accordance with Sections 30 to 36 of the Act: 
 
  

(a) £39,245,269 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in 
Section 31A(2) of the Act (including Special Expense and Parish Precepts). 
 

(b) (£34,177,686) being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in 
Section 31A(3) of the Act. 
 

(c) £5,067,583 being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above exceeds the aggregate at 3(b) 
above, calculated by the Council in accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act as its 
Council Tax requirement for the year. 
 

(d) £258.26 being the amount at 3(c) above, all divided by 1(a) above, calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 31B of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the 
year (including Parish precepts and Special Expenses). 
 

(e) £1,184,252 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish precepts and Special Expenses) 
referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act (as per 1(b) above). 
 

(f) £197.91 being the amount at 3(d) above less the result given by dividing the amount at 3(e) above 
by 1(a) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as 
the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to 
which no Parish precept relates. 
 

 
4. To note that the County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner have issued precepts to the Council in accordance 

with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for each category of dwellings in the Council’s area as indicated in 
the table below. 

P
age 25



 
5. That the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate 

amounts shown in the tables below as the amounts of Council Tax for 2021/22 for each part of its area and for each of the 
categories of dwellings. 

 
 

VALUATION BANDS 

 A 
£ 

B 
£ 

C 
£ 

D 
£ 

E 
£ 

F 
£ 

G 
£ 

H 
£ 

Lincolnshire County Council 909.44 1,061.01 1,212.59 1,364.16 1,667.31 1,970.45 2,273.60 2,728.32 

Lincolnshire Police and Crime Commissioner  177.54 207.13 236.72 266.31 325.49 384.67 443.85 532.62 

Boston Borough Council 131.94 153.93 175.92 197.91 241.89 285.87 329.85 395.82 

Average Parish Excluding Special Expense 
Area 

15.90 18.55 21.20 23.85 29.15 34.45 39.75 47.70 

BTAC Special Expense Area 24.33 28.39 32.44 36.50 44.61 52.72 60.83 73.00 

Aggregate of Council Tax Requirements 1,259.15 1,469.01 1,678.87 1,888.73 2,308.45 2,728.16 3,147.88 3,777.46 

 
6. The Council has determined that its relevant basic amount of Council Tax for 2021/22 is not excessive in accordance with 

principles approved under Section 52ZB Local Government Finance Act 1992.  As the billing authority, the Council has not been 
notified by a major Precepting authority that its relevant basic amount of Council Tax for 2021/22 is excessive and that the billing 
authority is not required to hold a referendum in accordance with Section 52ZK Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(The meeting ended at 8.45 pm) 
 

P
age 26



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the meeting of Boston Borough Council held at the Indoor Bowls Club, Rosebery 
Avenue, Boston PE21 7QR, on Wednesday, 26th May, 2021 at 6.30 pm 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Councillor Anton Dani), in the Chair 
Councillors Deborah Evans, Tracey Abbott, Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, 
Richard Austin BEM, Peter Bedford, Katie Chalmers, George Cornah, Paul Goodale, 
Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Jonathan Noble, Frank Pickett, Brian Rush, Judith Skinner, 
Paul Skinner, Aaron Spencer, Yvonne Stevens, Chelcei Trafford, Peter Watson, 
Judy Welbourn, Nigel Welton and Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive (Place), Democratic Services Delivery 
Manager, Civic & Member Services Officer and Democratic Services Apprentice 
 
1   TO ELECT THE MAYOR 

 
It was moved by Councillor Tom Ashton, seconded by Councillor Paul Skinner 
and 
 

RESOLVED that Councillor Frank Pickett be elected Mayor of the Borough of 
Boston to hold office until the next Annual Meeting of the Council. 

 
The Mayor Elect thereupon made the declaration required by the Local Government Act 
1972, took the Chair, and acknowledged the honour that had been conferred on him. 

 
(The Mayor in the Chair.) 

 
2   TO ELECT THE DEPUTY MAYOR 

 
It was moved by the Mayor, seconded by Councillor Nigel Welton and 
 

RESOLVED that Councillor Tom Ashton be elected Deputy Mayor of the Borough 
of Boston to hold office until the next Annual Meeting of the Council. 

 
3   TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Alan Bell, Anne Dorrian and 
Martin Howard. 
 
4   VOTE OF THANKS TO THE RETIRING MAYOR 

 
It was moved by Councillor Tom Ashton, seconded by Councillor Jonathan Noble 
and 
 

RESOLVED that the best thanks of the Council be extended to Councillor Anton 
Dani for the professional way in which he had discharged his duties as Mayor for 
the extended period of office due to the covid-19 pandemic, and to Mrs. Maria 
Dani for supporting the Mayor in her role as Mayoress. 

Page 27



 
The Mayor presented a Borough Plaque and a Past Mayor’s Badge to the retiring 
Mayor, Councillor Anton Dani, who then addressed the meeting. 
 
5   VOTE OF THANKS TO THE RETIRING DEPUTY MAYOR 

 
It was moved by the Retiring Mayor, Councillor Anton Dani, seconded by 
Councillor Yvonne Stevens and 
 

RESOLVED that the best thanks of the Council be extended to Councillor Deborah 
Evans for the admirable manner in which she had discharged her duties as 
Deputy Mayor during the extended period of office due to the covid-19 pandemic 
and to Mrs. Sue Garvey for supporting the Deputy Mayor in her role as Deputy 
Mayoress.  

 
The Retiring Mayor presented a Borough Plaque to Councillor Evans, who then 
addressed the meeting. 
 
6   MAYOR'S SCOUT AND MAYORESS' GUIDE 

 
(1) The Mayor handed the Sash of Office to the new Mayor’s Scout, Miss Emily 

Clayton. 
 
(2) The Mayor expressed his appreciation to Miss Lara Tarry, the retiring Mayor’s 

Guide, for the manner in which she had carried out her duties during the past 
year, and handed the Sash of Office to the new Mayoress’ Guide, Miss Freya 
O’Shea. 

 
7   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
No declarations of interest were made.  
 
8   DEMOCRATIC ARRANGEMENTS - APPOINTMENTS 2021/22 

 
The Monitoring Officer introduced a report recommending that, in accordance with the 
Council’s Rules of Procedure, Council consider the programme of meetings and 
appointments for the 2021/2022 Municipal Year as now indicated. 
 
(A) PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS 2021/22 
 
The Monitoring Officer drew attention to the draft programme of ordinary meetings for 
2021/22.  It was noted that in terms of the Council’s Constitution, the Council was 
required to formally approve the programme of ordinary meetings at its AGM. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Welton and 
 

 
RESOLVED that the programme of ordinary meetings for 2021/22 as set out in 
Appendix A be approved. 
 

 

Page 28



Full Council 
26 May 2021 

 

 
 

(B) APPOINTMENT OF CABINET 
 

The Monitoring Officer referred to Appendix B, which related to the appointment of the 
Cabinet Members and allocation of portfolios for 2021/22, submitted for information 
purposes only. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Nigel Welton 
and  
 

 
RESOLVED that the appointment of the Cabinet and allocation of portfolios for 
2021/22, as set out in Appendix B, be noted.  
 

 
(C) MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES 2021/22 
 
The Monitoring Officer referred to the proposed membership of the Committees for 
2021/22 as set out in Appendix C of the report.    
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Nigel Welton 
and 
 

 
RESOLVED that the membership of Committees for 2021/22, as set out in 
Appendix C, be approved. 
 

 
(D) APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMEN AND VICE-CHAIRMEN OF 
 COMMITTEES 2021-2022 
 
The Monitoring Officer referred to the list of proposed appointments of Chairmen and 
Vice-Chairmen of the Committees, as set out in Appendix D of the report.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Nigel Welton 
and 
 

 
RESOLVED that the appointments of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen for 20021-22 be 
approved as set out in Appendix D of the report; such appointees to hold office until the 
next Annual Meeting of the Council, or until the appointment of their successors. 
 

 
(E) APPOINTMENTS TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS  

 
The Monitoring Officer referred to the schedule of appointments to external 
organisations as set out in Appendix E of the report.  
 
It was noted that the nominations for the Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board and the 
Witham Fourth Internal Drainage Board were no longer oversubscribed as Councillor 
Brian Rush had withdrawn. 
 

Page 29



The Lincolnshire Police and Crime Panel was oversubscribed by one nomination and 
would be voted on separately.  
 

It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Nigel Welton 
and  
 

RESOLVED that the Council’s appointments to external organisations be 
approved as set out in Appendix E, with the exception of the Lincolnshire Police 
and Crime Panel, Members to serve on the external organisations indicated in 
each case; to hold office whilst they remain Members of the Council, until the next 
Annual Meeting of the Council; or until the appointment of their successors;  

 
It was moved by Councillor Nigel Welton and seconded by Councillor Anton Dani 
that Councillor Paul Skinner be appointed as the Council’s representative on the 
Lincolnshire Police and Crime Panel. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Peter Bedford and seconded by Councillor Peter 
Watson that Councillor Stephen Woodliffe be appointed as the Council’s 
representative on the Lincolnshire Police and Crime Panel. 
 
On being put to the vote it was  
 

RESOLVED that Councillor Paul Skinner be appointed as the Council’s 
representative on the Lincolnshire Police and Crime Panel to hold office whilst he 
remains a Member of the Council, until the next Annual Meeting of the Council; or 
until the appointment of a successor. 

 
 
 

Organisation Period of 
Appointment 

Appointees 

Bicker Trust Civic Year Cooper 

Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board 
(7 members) 

Civic Year Ashton 
R. Austin  
Bedford  
Cooper 
Pickett 

P. Skinner 
Mr. M. Brookes 
(Lay member) 

Boston Citizens Advice Bureau Management 
Committee (2 seats) 
 

Civic Year Griggs 

Boston Municipal Non-Educational Charities 
(4 seats) 

Civic Year Woodliffe 
Colin Brotherton 

(lay member) 

Centrepoint Outreach Civic Year Welbourn 

Council for the Protection of Rural England 
(Lincs Branch) 
 

Civic Year P. Skinner 

Page 30



Full Council 
26 May 2021 

 

 
 

Heritage Lincolnshire Civic Year R. Austin 

Lincolnshire County Council Health Scrutiny 
Committee 
(1 seat and 1 substitute – non Cabinet members) 

Civic Year Woodliffe 
 

Lincolnshire County Council Flood and Water 
Management Scrutiny Committee  (non Cabinet 

members) 

Civic Year R. Austin 
Pickett 

(substitute member) 

Nacro Services in Lincolnshire Civic Year Welbourn 

Rural Services Network (SPARSE Rural, 
Rural Services Partnership, RSN Community 
Group) 
 

Civic Year Ashton 
Brown 

Sir Thomas Meddlecott and Others Charity 
Trust (Skirbeck Quarter Charities) (3 
Trustees) 

Civic Year A. Austin 
Woodliffe 

Mr. R. Lenton 
(Lay member) 

Swineshead Poor Charity Civic Year Cornah 

Wash and North Norfolk Coast Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC) Members Group (1 
seat and 1 substitute) 

Civic Year A. Austin 
 

Witham Fourth District Internal Drainage 
Board (7 members) 

 R. Austin 
Bedford 
Hastie 
Pickett 

P. Skinner 
Welton 

Mrs. P. Cooper 
(Lay member) 

 
 

Long Term Appointments 
  

Organisation Period of 
Appointment 

Current / Previous 
Appointees 

Boston Grammar School Foundation 
Governors  (4 seats) 

4 years from 
2019 

Not applicable until May 2023 

John Butler Charity 3 years from 
2020 

 

Not applicable until May 2023 

Lincolnshire Police and Crime Panel 4 years from 
2021 

 

P. Skinner 

St. Leonard’s Hospital Trust 
(2 Trustees) 
 

4 years from 
appointment  

  

Not applicable until May 2023 

Thomas Sanderson Trust (2 seats) 4 years from 
2019 

Not applicable until May 2023 

Welland and Deepings IDB 3 years from Not applicable until May 2023 

Page 31



2020 
 

W H and E Harlock Swineshead 
Almshouses Charity 
 

3 years from 
2020 

Not applicable until May 2023 

Swineshead Enhancement Society 4 years from 
2019 

Not applicable until May 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(The meeting ended at 7.30 pm) 
 

Page 32



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the meeting of Boston Borough Council held at the Conference Centre, Jakemans 
Community Stadium (Boston United), Pilgrim Way, Wyberton, Boston, PE21 7NE., on 
Monday, 28th June, 2021 at 6.30 pm 

 
Present: 
Deputy Mayor Councillor Tom Ashton in the chair. 
Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Richard Austin BEM, Peter Bedford, Katie Chalmers, 
Michael Cooper, George Cornah, Anton Dani, Anne Dorrian, Viven Edge, 
Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Martin Howard, 
Jonathan Noble, Judith Skinner, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson, 
Judy Welbourn, Nigel Welton and Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Deputy Chief Executive (Place) & Monitoring Officer, Interim Deputy Chief Executive 
(People) and Section 151 Officer.  Democratic Services Officer and Democratic Services 
Apprentice.  

 
10   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence are recorded from Councillors Tracey Abbott, Alan Bell, Frank 
Pickett, Brian Rush and Chelcei Trafford. 
 
11   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
Councillor Tom Ashton (Mr. Deputy Mayor acting as Chairman) noted that whilst he was 
also a Member of East Lindsey District Council he would deliberate and determine the 
business of the meeting in his role as a Member of Boston Borough Council 
 
12   IN PRINCIPLE DECISION - EXTENDING THE ALLIANCE PARTNERSHIP 

TO INCLUDE SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL  
 

Councillor Paul Skinner, Leader of the Council, presented a report by the Interim Deputy 
Chief Executive– People setting out details of the opportunities and benefits of 
extending the current strategic alliance partnership between Boston Borough Council 
(BBC) and East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) to include South Holland District 
Council (SHDC).   
 
The report sought the Council’s in principle support to extend the strategic alliance to 
create the South East Lincolnshire Council Partnership (SELCP), the formation of which 
would be subject to further documentation being approved at a future meeting of the 
Council.  The report recommended that the Joint Chief Executive of BBC and ELDC also 
be appointed as Interim Chief Executive at SHDC to prepare the business case, draft a 
Senior Management staffing structure and a Memorandum of Agreement for the SELCP.  
The Leader reiterated that the report was merely seeking an ‘in principle’ decision. 
 

It was noted that BBC and ELDC had formed a strategic alliance on 1 July, 2020, 
underpinned by a memorandum of agreement between the two authorities.   Since that 
time, the alliance had achieved some significant benefits for the community, including: 

  

Page 33



- Progressed and implemented the alliance during the pandemic thereby 
increasing capacity to respond to the significant challenges presented by 
COVID-19. 

 
- Delivered £872k in-year savings between the Councils in 20/21; increasing 

the saving to £1.214m for 21/22 budgets. 
 
- Created a single Corporate Management Team and commenced a 

programme of service alignments delivering further efficiencies through 
removal of duplication (such as ICT systems).  

 
- Submitted exemplar bids that secured over £70m in funding offers from the 

Government’s Towns’ Fund for Boston, Mablethorpe and Skegness; and 
further bids for £40m of Government Levelling up Funding for Boston and 
East Lindsey had been submitted. 

 
- Raised the authorities profile as a regional voice with partners leading to £4m 

in green homes monies being secured from Government. 
 
- Adopted a Workforce Development Strategy that focused on organisational 

development in line with a shared vision and a One Team approach. This 
included the development and adoption of a values and behaviours framework 
for the alliance.  

 
- Both authorities were now shareholders in Public Sector Partnership Services 

(PSPS) Ltd providing alignment of key services including ICT infrastructure. 
 

Over the course of recent months, discussions had taken place between the Leaders 
and Deputy Leaders of BBC, ELDC and SHDC on whether SHDC may wish to join the 
alliance. Those discussions had been positive and identified that there were benefits 
and opportunities to extend the alliance and form a South East Lincolnshire Council 
Partnership (SELCP).   

 
Subject to the in principal decision being agreed, it was proposed to immediately form a 

Joint Scrutiny Panel with East Lindsey District Council to review the report and 

associated documentation in advance of the next Council decisions. The Panel would 

report back its findings to the respective Councils. 
 

A number of Members voiced caution and strong concerns in respect of the report, 
questioning why it had not gone through the scrutiny process prior to Full Council.  
Referencing the serious issues that arose from non-scrutiny of the initial alliance, 
Members agreed that such a situation could not be allowed to happen again. The report 
tabled had not allowed time for questioning or consideration at scrutiny level and the 
standard protocol appeared to have been breached again. The report contained little 
information to enable Members to make a decision and members had a responsibility to 
the residents of the borough:  a repetition of the process of the initial alliance would not 
be acceptable to anybody.  
 
At this point in the meeting, Mr. Deputy Mayor (in the chair) intervened and reiterated 
the comment of Councillor Paul Skinner, that the report was simply ‘In Principle’ seeking 
agreement to task the Chief Executive with undertaking initial negotiations with South 

Page 34



Full Council 
28 June 2021 

 

 
 

Holland District Council to ascertain their views on a future alliance, the Chief Executive 
would bring his findings back for consideration. No decision had been made or would be 
made pending the outcomes of the initial negotiations.   
  

Comments by members noted that there were more similarities between South Holland 
District Council and Boston Borough Council than there were between BBC and ELDC, 
including agriculture industry, and each had a working port.   Further Members voiced 
their appreciation and respect of the Leader of South Holland District Council, Lord 
Porter, noting they would welcome working with him. 
 
Referencing condition 3 within the report noting the formation of a joint scrutiny panel a 
Member asked if unaligned Members would be allowed to be a part of the panel and 
were advised that as both Councils had different Scrutiny protocols, and it would be the 
decision of each Council to nominate the members under their own protocols. 
 
Recognising that the report was ‘in principle’ some members who noted their initial 
concerns when first reading the report, stated that they felt reassured by advice and 
clarification that it was only initial negotiations.  They further stated they would be 
agreeable to supporting it providing it came back through the correct committee system 
ahead of any final decision making, to allow all members to be involved and the correct 
level to scrutiny to take place.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner and seconded by Councillor Nigel 
Welton that:  
 

Full Council: 
 

1. To agree in principle that the current strategic alliance partnership between 
Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council be extended to 
include South Holland District Council. The new alliance to be known as the 
South East Lincolnshire Council Partnership (SELCP) and its formation to 
be subject to a business case, draft shared management structure (for 
consultation) and memorandum of agreement being approved at future 
meetings of the three Councils. 

2. To approve the appointment of Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey 
District Council’s Joint Chief Executive, Rob Barlow, as the interim Chief 
Executive and Head of Paid Service for South Holland District Council being 
seconded from East Lindsey District Council under Section 113 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, effective from 2 July 2021 for the period necessary to 
prepare the following for decision at a future meeting of the Council:  

- A business case for the partnership between South Holland 
District Council, Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey 
District Council, to be known as the South East Lincolnshire 
Council Partnership (SELCP); 

- A draft structure for the integrated shared management 
arrangements of the proposed new partnership of SELCP 
between Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey District 
Council and South Holland District Council, for the purpose of 
staff consultation; and 

Page 35



- A Memorandum of Agreement to support the SELCP between 
Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey District Council and 
South Holland District Council. 

3. To agree to immediately form a Joint Scrutiny Panel (as set out in this 
report) with East Lindsey District Council to review the report and 
associated documentation in advance of the next Council decision. The 
Panel to report back its findings to the Council.  

 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Anne Dorrian: 
 

That the Business Case be presented at a Member briefing at Boston Borough 
Council and that the Business Case be forwarded to a Scrutiny committee at 
Boston Borough Council. 
 
The mover and seconder of the substantive motion agreed to add the proposed 
amendment to the motion. 
 
In conclusion having reserved his right to reply as Seconder, Councillor Welton thanked 
Councillor Dorrian for the additional recommendation agreeing that the business case 
should be taken through the committee system to allow inclusive consideration by all 
members.   
 
Councillor Welton further reassured Full Council that there was no guarantee the third 
alliance would come forward, but by allowing the Chief Executive to undertake initial 
investigations, the feedback would enable all Members at both Councils the time to fully 
consider and debate the possibility of the alliance, knowing they were in full possession 
of the facts.  Taking the business case through the Scrutiny process would allow open 
and public scrutiny. 
 
The amended substantive motion was then put to the vote and it was: 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Full Council agree that: 
 

1. To agree in principle that the current strategic alliance partnership between 
Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council be extended to 
include South Holland District Council. The new alliance to be known as the 
South East Lincolnshire Council Partnership (SELCP) and its formation to 
be subject to a business case, draft shared management structure (for 
consultation) and memorandum of agreement being approved at future 
meetings of the three Councils. 

2. To approve the appointment of Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey 
District Council’s Joint Chief Executive, Rob Barlow, as the interim Chief 
Executive and Head of Paid Service for South Holland District Council being 
seconded from East Lindsey District Council under Section 113 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, effective from 2 July 2021 for the period necessary to 
prepare the following for decision at a future meeting of the Council:  

Page 36



Full Council 
28 June 2021 

 

 
 

- A business case for the partnership between South Holland 
District Council, Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey 
District Council, to be known as the South East Lincolnshire 
Council Partnership (SELCP); 

- A draft structure for the integrated shared management 
arrangements of the proposed new partnership of SELCP 
between Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey District 
Council and South Holland District Council, for the purpose of 
staff consultation; and 

- A Memorandum of Agreement to support the SELCP between 
Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey District Council and 
South Holland District Council. 

3. To agree to immediately form a Joint Scrutiny Panel (as set out in this 
report) with East Lindsey District Council to review the report and 
associated documentation in advance of the next Council decision. The 
Panel to report back its findings to the Council.  

4. That a Member Briefing be held on the proposals including the Business 
Case, and that it also be considered by a Boston Borough Council scrutiny 
committee prior to formal determination by Full Council. 

 
 
 
 
 

(The meeting ended at 7.30 pm) 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the meeting of Boston Borough Council held at the Conference Centre, Jakemans 
Community Stadium (Boston United), Pilgrim Way, Wyberton, Boston, PE21 7NE, on 
Monday, 2nd August, 2021 at 6.30 pm 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Councillor Frank Pickett), in the Chair 
Councillors Tom Ashton, Tracey Abbott, Alison Austin, Richard Austin BEM, Alan Bell, 
Peter Bedford, Katie Chalmers, George Cornah, Anton Dani, Anne Dorrian, 
Deborah Evans, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Martin Howard, Jonathan Noble, 
Judith Skinner, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Chelcei Trafford, Judy Welbourn, 
Nigel Welton and Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Interim Deputy Chief Executive (People), Interim Assistant Director – Organisation and 
Corporate Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer, Democratic Services Delivery 
Manager, Civic & Member Services Officer and Democratic Services Apprentice 
 
13   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Viven Edge, Paul Goodale, Brian 
Rush and Peter Watson and the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and Section 151 
Officer. 
 
14   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
Councillor Tom Ashton made a declaration that whilst he was also an elected member of 
East Lindsey District Council he would deliberate and determine the business of the 
meeting in his role as a Member of Boston Borough Council 
 
15   SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIPS 

 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Paul Skinner, introduced a report by the Interim 
Deputy Chief Executive (People) setting out proposals to extend the strategic alliance by 
entering into a partnership with South Holland District Council. 
 
The report stated that at the meeting of the Council held on 28 June 2021, it had been 
agreed in principle to the formation of a three Council partnership to be known as the 
South East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP), building upon the foundations of 
the existing alliance between Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council. 
 
In making the in principle decision to support the SELCP, the current Joint Chief 
Executive was placed at the disposal of South Holland District Council on an interim 
basis to produce a Business Case, a draft structure for integrated shared management 
arrangements (tiers 1 to 3) and a Memorandum of Agreement to provide a framework 
for how the relationship between the Councils would be governed. 
 
The documents had been produced and were appended to the report for consideration.   
 

Page 39



In developing the Business Case detailed consideration and reference had been given 
to examples of successful partnerships which had been established across the local 
government sector. 
 
The establishment of the partnership had been split into three distinct phases:- 
 

 Phase 1 – Set Up (April 2022) – development of an Annual Delivery Plan for each 
Council and the establishment of wider governance and performance 
arrangements within the partnership. 

 

 Phase 2 – Accelerate (2022/23) – a programme of service reviews to commence 
in order to seize opportunities created by the new partnership, along with a wider 
programme of policy development and alignment (where there was appetite). 

 

 Phase 3 – Embed (2023/24) – a focus on ambitious growth. 
 
The financial analysis which supported the business case identified a financial 
opportunity of up to £42m available to the Councils collectively over the next ten year 
period through partnership working if all opportunities to integrate services (beyond a 
shared management structure) were embraced. Exploring wider service integration, 
where appropriate, would reduce pressure on the Councils’ budgets whilst creating 
capacity to invest in local priorities to achieve better outcomes for communities. 
 
Through combined working the Councils’ as a partnership would collectively have a 
stronger voice locally, regionally and nationally, when seeking resources to further their 
priorities. 
 
A key benefit of working together in respect of the workforce, would be the support 
available for the development of its officers, to provide greater opportunities to broaden 
skills, develop knowledge and progress in their careers.   The partnership had a 
commitment of no compulsory redundancies. 
 
The Memorandum of Agreement set out the purpose and aims of the shared 
management, agreed areas of joint working, the basis on which the Councils would 
operate and the principles by which the relationship would operate, fundamental to the 
success of the partnership. 
 
Council had previously agreed on an interim basis, the sharing of the Joint Chief 
Executive for the purpose of developing a Business Case, Memorandum of Agreement 
and the proposed management structure for tiers 1 – 3, as set out in the report.  The 
opportunity would be to take forward proposals to share a wider Senior Management 
Team which would make better use of limited resources and put all Councils in a 
stronger position to develop other shared roles or services that could achieve further 
efficiencies and improvements.  
 
Each Council would retain its own sovereignty, identity and priorities but with common 
goals and shared commitment to develop improved effectiveness and deliver further 
efficiencies to their local communities. 
 
The report also proposed the appointment of the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer and Section 151 Officer, all statutory posts which required full Council approval. 

Page 40



Full Council 
2 August 2021 

 

 
 

The three roles would form part of the integrated shared management arrangements for 
the SELCP. 
 
The sharing of the statutory officers and associated costs would be based on the 
population ratio apportionment which underpinned the partnership; South Holland DC 
31%; Boston Borough Council 23% and East Lindsey DC 46%. 
 
It was proposed that delegated authority be granted to the Head of Paid Service, in 
consultation with Council Leaders, to implement the management structure and 
associated appointments from within the existing senior staffing partnership cohort 
(Tiers 2 and 3), subject to there being no material changes to the proposed structure 
following consultation with the officers affected.   It was anticipated that consultation 
would begin once the decision had been taken by Council, and the full structure in place 
in advance of the partnership commencing on 6 September 2021.  
 
As requested at the meeting of the Council on 28 June, a Member Briefing on the 
proposals had been held on 14 July, and considered by the Corporate and Community 
Committee on 20 July.  Further scrutiny had been undertaken by the Joint Scrutiny 
Panel (ELDC and BBC) on 21 July.  Comments from both scrutiny meetings and from 
the Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel (SHDC) were 
appended to the report.  
 
In response to comments from the scrutiny forums it was proposed the change the 
name of the alliance to the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership to 
acknowledge the geographical areas of all three authorities.  
 
During debate Members expressed a consensus of support for the proposed partnership 
recognising the benefits it would bring for all three authorities, including:-  
 

 Greater strength and resilience with a wider workforce;  

 Opportunities to realise the ambitions of the Corporate Plan; 

 Louder voice for negotiation and lobbying; 

 Opportunities for senior officers to concentrate on areas of specialism rather than 
spread across several services areas; 

 Achieve savings targets whilst maintaining services;  

 Career development for staff; 

 Pre-empt local government re-organsiation or devolution across the county 
 
Concern was expressed regarding a perceived expansion of bureaucracy and proposed 
salaries for senior officers.  The projected budget gaps stated in the report were 
speculative as future funding arrangements from central government were unknown.  
There was no democratic mandate for the partnership as public consultation had not 
been undertaken.  Local Government reform was not inevitable and avoiding devolution 
was not a good reason to extend the alliance.  
 
In summing up the Leader commented that for any partnership to be successful it had to 
be built on trust, good leadership and communication and would require constant 
working on, nurturing and developing.  It was not feasible for the Council to adopt a 
stand still attitude as this would result in going backwards, it was necessary to work with 

Page 41



partners to ensure the future success of the Council for the benefit of communities and 
the local economy.  
 
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Nigel Welton 
and  
 

 
RESOLVED  
 

1. To approve the business case (at Appendix A) for, and to approve entry into, 
a South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership between Boston Borough 
Council, East Lindsey District Council and South Holland District Council. 

 
2. To delegate to Michelle Sacks, Deputy Chief Executive (Place) in consultation 

with the Leader, approval of the final terms for, and the signing and sealing of, the 
Memorandum of Agreement (draft at Appendix B) following due diligence; and 
simultaneously terminate the existing Memorandum of Agreement between 
Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council. 

 
3. That, subject to similar decisions to be taken by the other two Councils, Rob 

Barlow becomes the Joint Chief Executive and Head of Paid Services of South 
Holland District Council, East Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough 
Council from 3 August 2021. Mr. Barlow shall remain formally employed by East 
Lindsey District Council, and this Council agrees that he continues to be placed at 
the disposal of this Council and at the disposal of South Holland District Council 
under Section 113 of the Local Government Act. Thereafter, East Lindsey District 
Council will contribute 46% of the cost of Mr Barlow’s remuneration, Boston 
Borough Council will contribute 23% and South Holland District Council 31% of 
the same.  

 
4. That, subject to similar decisions to be taken by the other two Councils, Mark 

Stinson becomes the Joint Monitoring Officer of South Holland District Council, 
East Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council from 3 August 2021. 
Mr. Stinson shall remain formally employed by South Holland District Council, 
and this Council agrees to him being placed at the disposal of this Council as well 
as East Lindsey District Council under Section 113 of the Local Government Act 
1972 and formally designates him as Monitoring Officer effective from 3 August 
2021. Thereafter, East Lindsey District Council will contribute 46% of the cost of 
Mr Stinson's remuneration, Boston Borough Council will contribute 23% and 
South Holland District Council 31% of the same.  

5. That, subject to similar decisions to be taken by the other two Councils, Christine 
Marshall becomes the Joint Section 151 Officer of South Holland District Council, 
East Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council from 3 August 2021. 
Ms Marshall shall remain formally employed by South Holland District Council, 
and this Council agrees to her being placed at the disposal of this Council as well 
as East Lindsey District Council under Section 113 of the Local Government Act 
1972 and formally designates her as the officer responsible for the financial 
affairs of the authority under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 
effective from 3 August 2021. Thereafter, East Lindsey District Council will 

Page 42



Full Council 
2 August 2021 

 

 
 

contribute 46% of the cost of Mrs Marshall's remuneration, Boston Borough 
Council will contribute 23% and South Holland District Council 31% of the same.  

6. To authorise the Joint Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service to commence 
consultation immediately on the proposed integrated shared management 
structure (included in Appendix A) and subject to there being no material changes 
to the senior management structure following consultation with officers, delegated 
authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in consultation with the Council 
Leaders to implement the said structure and associated appointments from within 
the existing senior staffing partnership cohort (Tiers 2 and 3).   
 

7. To establish a Joint Chief Officer Appointment Panel and a Joint Appointment 
Appeals Committee, with terms of reference as agreed and set out in the 
Memorandum of Agreement, and that the Monitoring Officer be authorised to 
make any necessary changes to the Constitution. 
 

8. Council via its Overview/Scrutiny process to undertake a review of the 
Partnership after 12 months and to report back to Council. 

 

 
(Councillor Noble requested his abstention from voting be recorded) 

 
 
 
 
 

(The meeting ended at 7.20 pm) 
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

FULL COUNCIL 
 

27th September 2021 

 

 

 

To receive the confirmed minutes of the meetings  

of the Audit and Governance Committee held on  

25th January and 29th March 2021.

Page 45

Agenda Item 1



 

Page 46



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

25 January 2021 

Present: Councillor Tom Ashton (Chairman), Councillor Martin Howard MSc. PCGM, 
Cert Ed (Vice-Chairman), Councillors Alison Austin, David Brown, George Cornah, 
Anton Dani, Anne Dorrian, Frank Pickett, Peter Watson and Mr Alan Pickering 
 
In attendance: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
Officers –  
Section 151 Officer, Transformation & Governance Manager, Head of Internal Audit 
(City of Lincoln Council), Principal Auditor (City of Lincoln Council), Senior Democratic 
Services Officer and Democratic Services Apprentice 
 
54   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 9th November 2020 were agreed as a correct record 
subject to the deletion of Councillor Martin Howard’s name from the list of those present 
at the meeting, and would be signed by the Chairman. 
 
55   APOLOGIES 

 
None. 
 
56   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
57   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
None. 
 
58   RISK REPORT QUARTER 2 - 2020/21 

 
The IT & Transformation Manager presented a report, which provided the Committee 
with an update on risks as at the end of Quarter 2 of 2020/2021 (April to September 
2020) to provide assurance that corporate governance arrangements were in place and 
functioning effectively. 
 
Strategic and operational risks continued to be managed in accordance with the Risk 
Management Framework. 
 
Strategic risks, which were monitored quarterly, were reviewed by the corporate 
management team in Quarter 1, particularly with regard to the impact of Covid-19 and 
the Strategic Alliance with East Lindsey District Council. They had also been reviewed in 
Quarter 2 in light of the change in management structure and would be reviewed again 
in Quarter 3/4 in light of the new Corporate Plan.   
 
Housing and Budget remained the two high strategic risks in Quarter 2 and there had 
been no change to the strategic risk scores in Q2.  Full details of strategic risks were set 
out in Appendix A. 
 

Page 47



Audit & Governance Committee 
25 January 2021 
 

Operational risks had been reviewed in Quarter 1 and 2, with exception reporting of high 
operational / project risks, and any changes to management assurance levels, being set 
out in the report. 
 

For 2021/22, the Council would be looking to have a single risk management approach 
across the Alliance, with strategic and operational risks reviewed as part of service 
planning.  The Council’s Risk Management Framework was based on the countywide 
model and so would lend itself to aligning into a single approach.   
 
In response to questions, the IT & Transformation Manager explained that the health 
risk was rated as medium as it related to the delivery of the Council’s own health 
objectives. However, the point made regarding the impact of COVID-19 on services was 
noted. 
 
The risk relating to flooding would be revised as the barrier was now operational.  The 
report only related to risks within the control of the Council; details could be obtained 
from the Environment Agency about other measures to keep the town safe. 
  

Action: SR 
Forward details to Members regarding the risk relating to fresh water flooding and 
regarding the forecast of population change due to Brexit. 

 
It was confirmed that there was a Transformation Plan in place for the Council and that 
officers were working on a new plan for the Strategic Alliance.  
 
A Member raise concerns about the IT upgrades and accreditation needed.  In 
response, the IT & Transformation Manager explained that the risk relating to the Public 
Services Network Compliance Certificate had been medium for some time and 
measures were in place to work towards accreditation.  The Audit Report had judged it 
as a medium risk and, therefore, it was not high enough a risk to report to Cabinet at this 
stage, though the impact would need to be considered if it carried on into the future. 
Capacity and resilience within the IT section had been an issue for some time. The risk 
would appear on both strategic and operational risk registers. 
 
The Portfolio Holder confirmed that Public Sector Partnership Services (PSPS) would be 
delivering IT upgrades at a cost of around £633,000, as opposed to approximately 
£825,000 for the Council to do itself.   
 
59   STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2020/21 - ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The Section 151 Officer presented a report regarding the proposed Accounting Policies 
for the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts, with the draft attached as Appendix A.  
 
The annual Statement of Accounts was one of the ways that the Council demonstrated 

the stewardship of funds, and its preparation was governed by a series of specific 

requirements relating to its content and format. 

Unless there were major changes to accounting rules and regulation, accounting 

policies did not change significantly between years because the Accounts would not be 

comparable from one year to the next.   

Page 48



Audit & Governance Committee 
25 January 2021 

 

The pre-audit 2020/21 Statement of Accounts would be presented to the Committee in 

May 2021.  The accounting policies would be included within the Accounts, and any 

changes made as a result of the audit process would be highlighted and explained in the 

final report to the Committee in July 2021. 

There were no changes to the Council’s Accounting Policies for 2020/21. The proposed 

implementation of a change in the way Leases were treated (IFRS16) had been 

deferred, probably until 2022/23. 

RESOLVED That: 
1. The Accounting Policies, as set out in Appendix A, be approved and adopted 

for 2020/21; and  
2. The final approval of any necessary minor change, prior to inclusion in the 

Accounts, be delegated to the Section 151 Officer. 

 
60   TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL STRATEGY UPDATE - 

QUARTER 3 2020/21 
 

The Chief Finance Officer and Section 151 Officer presented a report, which set out the 
Treasury Management and relevant capital strategy activities of the Council for the 
period 1 April to 31 December 2020. 
 
In terms of investment returns, the Council was expecting to achieve a total of £960,000 
for 2020/21 comprising £897,000 gross distribution income from property fund holdings 
(i.e. before deduction of management fees) and £63,000 from cash investments. This 
compared to the total gross annual budget of £1,077,000. 
 
The Council was generally keeping cash investments short term up to a maximum of 
twelve months. As the financial climate changed, whom the Council invested with and 
the amount invested, was under constant scrutiny, taking into account risk at any 
particular moment in time.  
 
Members asked a range of questions.  The Section 151 Officer advised the Committee 
that returns from the Council’s property funds equated to approximately 3.5%, which 
was an excellent rate of return.  
 
The value of the funds had gone down from £20m to £19.5m since the previous year. 
However, the Section 151 Officer advised Members not to be concerned in this regard 
because this was a long-term investment. In the same way, when a house-owner rented 
out the property, the fact that the value of the house might fluctuate in the short to 
medium term would not be a concern as long as the rental income continued. The 
excellent rate of return from the property funds was due to the management of the funds 
by professional experts who ensured the funds yielded the maximum return.   
 
An increase in interest rates would be to the Council’s advantage overall because it had 
surplus cash, but long-term forecasts indicated that rates would remain low for some 
time to come.   
 
The Portfolio Holder pointed out that the Council’s investments in property funds were at 
a fixed rate of interest and that it was a long-term 50-year investment.   
 

Page 49



Audit & Governance Committee 
25 January 2021 
 

The Section 151 Officer reassured Members that the possibility of there being a situation 
of negative interest rates was very unlikely. 
 
61   DRAFT BUDGET SETTING REPORT AND MEDIUM-TERM FINANCIAL 

STRATEGY 2021/22 - 2025/26 FOR CONSULTATION 
 

The Section 151 Officer presented the draft Budget Setting Report and Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy for 2021/22 to 2025/26 for the Committee to consider during the 
budget consultation. 
 
On 27th January 2021, Cabinet would receive the draft report for approval for 
consultation.  The Cabinet report and its appendices were attached at Appendix A. 
 
The report included the recommended level of Council Tax increase for 2021/22 of 
£4.95.  This represented a 2.57% increase to make the Council’s share of the precept 
£197.91. 
 
The proposed revenue budget for 2021/22 showed a surplus position currently of 
£98,000. However, in the following years there was a savings requirement of 
approximately £700,000 per year. 
 
Members were invited to consider the report in the light of the Committee’s governance 
responsibilities and make any comments, which would be fed back to Cabinet as part of 
the consultation prior to the budget’s approval at Full Council in March.  
 
The Section 151 Officer thanked the Accountancy Manager - Revenue and Systems and 
the finance team for the substantial amount of work they had undertaken. 
 
The £98,000 surplus the following year was mainly due to the delay of the Government’s 
Fair Funding Review, which had been put back a year due to the pandemic.  However, 
the following year there would be a deficit. 
 
The report was very positive; many authorities were in a much more precarious position. 
The Council had recently benefited from funding from the Community Champions 
budget as well as funding for homelessness. This meant the Council was in a good 
position and in a good place to make savings. 
 
In response to questions, the Section 151 Officer confirmed that there was no intention 
to reduce staff; the report forecast that a very small number could perhaps be lost over 
future years. The Council Tax increase proposed was the highest that could be put in 
place without triggering a referendum. Officers were erring on the side of caution. 
 
The Portfolio Holder answered questions about the reserves, explaining that the housing 
reserve was for expenditure such as funding a housing association to provide low-cost 
housing.  The funding volatility reserve was to provide cover for short-term fluctuations 
in funding.  
 
A Member then proposed that it be recommended to Cabinet and Full Council that there 
be no increase in the Council Tax for 2021/22 in order to give some respite to Council 
Tax payers – many were on low wages and had been hit by the impact of the pandemic, 

Page 50



Audit & Governance Committee 
25 January 2021 

 

which had also affected mental health. The Council had a surplus of £98,000, which it 
could use instead of increasing Council Tax.  This proposal was seconded.   
 
The Section 151 Officer urged caution, as not increasing the Council Tax would 
jeopardise the balancing of the budget in future years. 
 
Other Members raised concerns about the proposal, including public expectation that 
the Council Tax increase to be 0% every year. 
 
The Portfolio Holder explained that the Council had received generous Government 
funding in the current year, but the Council could not rely on this in the future and they 
did not know what the full impact of the pandemic would be. 
 
Members asked a range of questions.  In response, the Section 151 Officer explained 
that it was a risk that the proposed level of fees and charges would not achieve the 
income expected, but it was expected that the Government would recompense 
authorities for losses next year. If not, reserves would be used to avoid unnecessary 
cuts to services. The proposed £4.95 increase would result in an extra 9p per week for 
Band D properties and 6p per week for Band A properties and provide the Council with 
approximately £100,000 additional income per annum. The proposed increase for 
Lincolnshire Police was approximately £15 and £40 for the County Council.   
 
During discussion of the internal drainage board (IDB) levies, which two-thirds of the 
Council Tax increase would have to cover, Members agreed that they should receive a 
briefing on the matter to explain the details fully. 
 

Action: AS 
Arrange a Member Briefing regarding the impact of the internal drainage board (IDB) 
levies on the Council’s budget and invite representatives from the IDBs to attend. 

 
The Chairman commented that the Council Tax increase had been low since the 
introduction of the Government’s cap and considered that the Council was managing 
satisfactorily despite those small increases.  A deficit of £700,000 was predicted the 
following year and it would irresponsible not to increase Council Tax in the current year, 
as it would result in an annual loss going forward and the amount to cover the deficit 
would have to be found from somewhere.  
 
The proposal to recommend a 0% increase in Council Tax was then put to the vote, but 
fell, with 3 votes for and 6 votes against.  Mr Pickering confirmed that he was against the 
proposal.   
 
It was then agreed that Members’ comments be fed back to Cabinet as part of the 
consultation on the budget, prior to its approval at Full Council on 1st March 2021. 
 
62   INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2020/21 

 
The Internal Audit Manager presented the regular Internal Audit progress report for 
2021/21. 
 

Page 51



Audit & Governance Committee 
25 January 2021 
 

Good progress was being made delivering the revised plan – at the end of December 
2020, 46% of the Audit Plan had been completed, against the target of 50%.  The Plan 
would be substantially complete by the end of the 
financial year, i.e. reports would be at draft stage but might not have been finalised. 
 
Two pieces of work had been completed in this period, and six pieces of work were in 
progress. 
 
The Covid-19 Assurance audit report was at draft stage.  This was an assessment to 
determine if any of the changes caused by the initial lockdown had any significant 
impacts on the risk and control environment. 
 
Other audits in progress were: 
• ICT security assurance 
• Council Tax 
• Housing Benefits & Council Tax Support 
• Payroll 
 
The assurance review of National Non-Domestic Rates (NNR) had been completed and 
given High assurance.   
 
The report detailed the results of a piece of consultancy work completed on the Strategic 
Alliance Memorandum of Agreement (MOA).   
 
The report also summarised other matters that would be of interest to the Committee. 
 
The Chairman commented that there had been very little slippage within the work plan in 
the current difficult times. The Committee agreed that their thanks be extended to the 
Internal Audit team along with the Section 151 Officer, Accountancy Manager - Revenue 
and Systems and the finance team. 
 
63   WORK PROGRAMME 

 
Members considered the work programme for the remainder of 2020/21. 
 
The Chairman reported that the Monitoring Officer and Councillor Development Group 
had indicated that the new Local Government Association (LGA) code of conduct still 
needed some primary legislation. It would need to be considered by the Standards Sub-
Committee in the first instance before it came before the Committee. Ideally, the Council 
would adopt the code within the current municipal year. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 8.30 pm 
 

Page 52



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

29 March 2021 

Present: Councillor Tom Ashton (Chairman), Councillors Alison Austin, George Cornah, 
Anton Dani, Anne Dorrian, Frank Pickett, Peter Watson and Mr Alan Pickering 
 
In attendance: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
Guests:  
Richard Tanner – Portfolio Manager for the Fund and Head of UK Business 

Michael Shears – Assistant PM, Asset Management Executive Director) 
Kari Clarke – Investor Relations Associate Director 
 
Officers –  
Section 151 Officer, Head of Internal Audit (City of Lincoln Council), Principal Auditor 
(City of Lincoln Council), External Auditor (Mazars) and Senior Democratic Services 
Officer 
 
64   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 25th January 2021 were agreed as a correct record 
and would be signed by the Chairman. 
 

Action: JC 
Produce an action sheet after meetings so that timelines can be added to any actions 
agreed. 

 
65   APOLOGIES 

 
None. 
 
66   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
67   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
None. 
 
68   APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN 

 

RESOLVED: That Councillor George Cornah be appointed Vice-Chairman for the 
remainder of the Municipal Year. 

 
69   FUND MANAGER PRESENTATION 

 
The Committee considered a request from the representatives from AEW Property Fund 
to receive their presentation in exempt session, owing to the commercial sensitivity of 
information contained within it; it would only be possible to make the presentation in 
public by removing integral parts from it, meaning that Members would not receive the 
full picture.   
 

Page 53



Audit & Governance Committee 
29 March 2021 
 

IT WAS RESOLVED that under Section 100 (A) (iv) of the Local Government Act 
1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information)(Variation) 
Order 2006, the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items of business on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Order. 

 
The AEW representatives then gave their presentation and answered a range of 
questions. 
 

Action: JC 

 Email AEW’s PowerPoint presentation to Members; 

 Email future PowerPoint documents to Members prior to future presentations. 

 
The Chairman thanked the representatives from their presentation, which had given 
reassurance to Members that the company was managing the Council’s investment well 
and it was performing. 
 
[Councillor Dorrian left the meeting at this point.] 
 

IT WAS RESOLVED that the meeting be moved back into public session. 

 
70   AUDIT STRATEGY MEMORANDUM - YEAR ENDING 31 MARCH 2020 

 
Mark Surridge presented Mazars’ Audit Strategy Memorandum for the year ending 31 
March 2020. 
 
The purpose of the document was to summarise Mazars’ audit approach, highlight 
significant audit risks and areas of key judgements, and provide the Committee with the 
details of the audit team.  
 
The document had been prepared following Mazars’ initial planning discussions with 
management, as the basis for a discussion around their audit approach.  
 
Mr Surridge thanked the finance officers for their complete support, enabling Mazars to 
carry out their work.   
 
The pandemic had extended the timeline for completion of work; the accounts would be 
produced by 31st July and published by 30th September 2021. 
 
Mazars had identified the following relevant risks to the audit of the financial statements, 
which were deemed to be significant:  
1 Management override of controls  
2 Net defined benefit liability valuation  
3 Valuation of land and buildings  
4 Covid-19 grant recognition 
 
The first three were the same as for the previous year and all were the same as for the 
majority of local authorities.  The report set out a summary of Mazars’ audit response to 
these risks. 

Page 54



Audit & Governance Committee 
29 March 2021 

 

 
Mr Surridge then highlighted Mazars’ Value For Money (VFM) work.  The new Code of 
Audit Practice (the Code) had changed the way in which auditors reported their findings 
in relation to VFM arrangements from 2020/21. Whilst still required to be satisfied that 
the Council had proper arrangements in place, Mazars would now report by exception in 
their auditor’s report where they had identified significant weakness in those 
arrangements. This was a significant change to the requirements under the previous 
Code, which required them to give a conclusion on the Council’s arrangements as part 
of their auditor’s report. 
 
Under the new Code, the key output of their work on VFM arrangements would be a 
commentary on those arrangements, which would form part of the Auditor’s Annual 
Report.  
 
The Code required Mazars to structure their commentary to report under three specified 
criteria:  
1. Financial sustainability – how the Council planned and managed its resources to 
ensure it could continue to deliver its services  
2. Governance – how the Council ensured that it made informed decisions and properly 
managed its risks  
3. Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness – how the Council used information 
about its costs and performance to improve the way it managed and delivers its 
services. 
 
This “commentary report” would be made public and Mr Surridge assured Members it 
would be of the highest quality. 
 
The Chairman thanked Mr Surridge for his report, which was noted by the Committee. 
 
71   COMBINED ASSURANCE - STATUS REPORT 2020/21 

 
John Scott, Internal Audit Manager, presented the Combined Assurance Status Report 
for 2020/21. 
 
Combined assurance was obtained by speaking to senior and operational managers, 
working with corporate functions and using third party inspections and the outcome of 
Internal Audit work.  It would feed into the Annual Audit Plan for 2021/22 and the 
Council’s Annual Governance Statement.   
 
The report concluded that the Council had established and varied assurance 
arrangements in place to manage risk and ensure services were delivered to a high 
standard.  Internal Audit was pleased to see this was working well and evidenced with 
high levels of assurance. The Council had a much-improved financial position since 
joining the Strategic Alliance with East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) and this was 
helping increase resilience in many service areas. This newfound advantage would be 
used to improve areas as required.  
 
The Council’s Strategic Risk Register was regularly reviewed, and risks were being 
effectively managed.  The Assistant Directors had provided summaries of the risks 
relating to their service areas and these were set out in the report along with the overall 
assurance direction of travel, in terms of red, amber or green with respect to critical 

Page 55



Audit & Governance Committee 
29 March 2021 
 

activities.  There had been changes in the risks, with more rated as amber and fewer 
rated green, but this was not a particular concern; the same as for other authorities, 
many related to the impact of the Covid 19 pandemic, and also to the effect of the 
Strategic Alliance process.   
 
The layout of the report was commended, though explanation of the abbreviations 
PCIDSS and ROPA was required.   
 
In response to questions, the Internal Audit Manager explained that the reference to 
‘lack of visibility of contracts’ related to shared visibility following the Strategic Alliance.  
The Section 151 Officer explained that the text in report for each service area was each 
Assistant Director’s own wording.  The Princess Royal Sports Arena had a red rating as 
its rent had not been paid; the facility was receiving some compensation for its use as a 
mass vaccination centre, but reported that it was not sufficient to enable the rent to be 
paid in the current circumstances.   
 
The Chairman commented that the report indicated a significant impact in many areas 
due to the pandemic.   
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
72   INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2020/21 

 
John Scott, Internal Audit Manager, presented the progress report on Internal Audit work 
for 2020/21. 
 
All remaining 2020/21 audits had been started and it was expected that the Plan would 
be substantially complete by the end of the financial year with reports at draft stage but 
might not be finalised.   
 
One assurance review had been completed, the Covid Assessment, which had been 
given Substantial assurance. 
 
Two audit reports described as at draft stage and three as being in progress were now 
all at the stage of being finalised: 
• Council Tax 
• ICT Security Assurance 
• Housing Benefits & Council Tax Support 
• Payroll 
• Accountancy Key Controls 
 
Only one, the Governance, Risk & Fraud audit, was still in progress.   
 
Other significant work included the completion of the annual Combined Assurance 
process, presented elsewhere on the agenda.  Internal Audit had worked closely with 
the East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) Internal Audit team in order to streamline the 
process for the Strategic Alliance. 
 
Again, the Draft 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan, also presented separately on the agenda, 
followed close working with the ELDC Internal Audit team.  The result was a plan that 
was relevant to the Alliance and a number of joint audits. 

Page 56



Audit & Governance Committee 
29 March 2021 

 

 
A detailed update giving the position regarding Audit Recommendations as at 31st 
December was attached at Appendix 3.  Recommendations were being implemented 
and none had needed to be brought to the Committee’s attention.  A number had been 
extended to the end of March 2021 or later, either due to the impact of the pandemic or 
the process of the Strategic Alliance, and a follow-up report would be made at the 
Committee’s next meeting.  
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
73   DRAFT INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2021/22 

 
John Scott, Internal Audit Manager, presented the draft Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22, 
as at 1st April 2021.  
 
The plan detailed the activities to be audited and the indicative scope for each audit and 
was presented for Members’ comments.  The plan delivered assurance within agreed 
resources, which remained the same as the previous year at 145 days.  The plan would 
be amended throughout the year to reflect changing assurance needs. 
 
The plan had been developed using various sources including external intelligence, local 
knowledge and the meetings held with Assistant Directors and the Senior Leadership 
Team as a whole.   
 
The Audit Focus for 2021/22 was set out with information on key audit areas and the 
rationale for their inclusion in the audit strategy and plan.   
 
The impact of Covid19 on the public sector had been unprecedented. Internal Audit had 
carried out some assurance work in this area during 2020/21 and the plan remained 
flexible to take account of this and other evolving risks.  Appendix A outlined the various 
audits to be undertaken within each area. Appendix B contained those areas, which 
Internal Audit had not been able to include in the plan, but management might wish to 
consider whether they should be included. 
 
Due to the formation of the Strategic Alliance between the Council and East Lindsey 
District Council (ELDC) and the Council’s partnership with Public Sector Partnership 
Services (PSPS), Internal Audit had been working closely with ELDC’s Internal Audit 
team, both being part of Assurance Lincolnshire.  Many audits were the same or similar; 
they were undertaken separately, but jointly, as it was beneficial to align them as much 
as possible. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Internal Audit team for their work and the Committee noted 
the report. 
 
74   WORK PROGRAMME 

 
Members considered the Committee’s work programme. 
 
The Chairman thanked all parties for their input during the year.   
 

Page 57



Audit & Governance Committee 
29 March 2021 
 

The Section 151 Officer advised the Committee that the next agenda would include a 
work programme for the full year ahead.  Members should e-mail any issues they 
wished to be included.   
 

Action: AS 
Include a work programme for the whole of 2021/22 on the next agenda. 

 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 8.45 pm 
 

Page 58



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 

DATE: 27 SEPTEMBER 2021 

SUBJECT: INQUORATE PARISH COUNCIL 

KEY DECISION: N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR NIGEL WELTON 

REPORT AUTHOR: DEMOCRATIC SERVICES DELIVERY MANAGER 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: KIRTON & FRAMPTON 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

To seek the Council’s authority to make an Order under Section 91 of the Local Government Act 

1972, appointing named persons to be Parish Councillors on an interim basis.  This will enable the 

work of the Parish Council to continue until such time as it has co-opted or elected sufficient 

Councillors to be quorate.  Also to consider whether to delegate authority to the Returning 

Officer, in consultation with local Ward Member(s) and Parish Clerk, to make such orders in 

future, should the need arise.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That the Order attached at Appendix A, to appoint temporary parish Councillors to Kirton 

Parish Council, be approved so that the Council is quorate and can continue to operate. 

 

2. That delegated authority be granted to the Returning Officer, in consultation with 

Borough Ward Member(s) for the parish affected and the Parish Clerk, to make such 

orders under Section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972, should a similar situation arise 

in the future in respect of any parish council in the Borough area, following the procedure 

set out in Appendix B.  

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To ensure parish councils can continue to operate when inquorate.  

 Page 59

Agenda Item 3



OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Not to appoint persons on an interim basis. 

 

REPORT 

1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 On 4th August 2021, six of the current nine members of Kirton Parish Council tendered their 

resignations thereby rendering the Council inquorate and unable to carry out its normal 
business.  There are 12 seats on the Parish Council and three were already vacant.  

 
1.2 Section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives principal councils the power (not duty) 

to make temporary appointments to fill all or any of the vacancies until sufficient parish 
councillors are elected and take up office.  

 
1.3 The quorum for Kirton Parish Council is four Members, therefore at least one person needs 

to be appointed as a parish councillor on an interim basis and will need to attend all 
meetings in order to conduct the required business.   

 
1.4 Under the Constitution there are no delegated powers for an Officer of Boston Borough 

Council to appoint interim Councillors to inquorate parish councils, therefore the 
responsibility lies with Full Council.  

 
1.5 Two copies of a Section 91 Order must be sent to the Secretary of State, but there is no 

requirement that it be confirmed by the Secretary of State.  The draft Section 91 Order is set 
out at Appendix A. 
 

2. APPOINTMENTS TO KIRTON PARISH COUNCIL  
 
2.1 The Borough Councillors and County Councillors for the Kirton Parish area have been 

approached to ascertain their interest and willingness to be appointed to Kirton Parish 
Council on an interim basis.  

 
2.2 Ward Councillors David Brown and Nigel Welton, and County Councillors Alison Austin and 

Michael Brookes have agreed to act on a temporary basis until the Parish Council is once 
again quorate.  

 
2.3 It is recommended that all of the above named Councillors be appointed to Kirton Parish 

Council to mitigate against potential non-attendance or declarations of conflict of interest, 
which could render a meeting inquorate.  

 
3. DELEGATION AND PROCEDURE  
 
3.1 To ensure temporary appointments can be made to inquorate parish councils as quickly as 

possible in the future, it is recommended that the Returning Officer be granted delegated 
authority, in consultation with the appropriate Ward Member(s) and the Clerk to the Parish 
Council.  The latter will have particular local knowledge which may be pertinent to any 
appointments to be made. 

 

Page 60



3.2 Although a procedure is not strictly necessary, to avoid any doubt or dispute regarding the 
process or validity of any temporary appointments made, a suggested procedure has been 
produced and is set out in Appendix B.  

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Under Section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972 the principal authority has the power (not 

duty) to appoint persons on a temporary basis to fill all or any of the vacant seats on inquorate 

parish councils. 

 

RISK IMPLICATIONS  
 
Failure to make an Order to appoint interim persons to an inquorate parish council would render 
the council unable to operate and conduct its business. 
 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None. 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None. 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

None. 

 

CONSULTATION 

Returning Officer 

Monitoring Officer 

Borough Ward Councillors and Lincolnshire County Councillors for the Kirton Parish area.  

  

Page 61



 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Draft Section 91 Order 

APPENDIX B Procedure for making temporary appointments to 

inquorate parish councils.  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Local Government Act 1972  https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/91 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Lorraine Bush, Democratic Services Delivery 

Manager  

Signed off by: Michelle Sacks, Returning Officer 

Mark Stinson, Monitoring Officer 

Approved for publication: N/A 

 

  

Page 62



Appendix A 

 

THIS ORDER is made on the           day of              2021 by  

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL (“the Council”). 

 

Kirton Parish Council is not currently functioning due to the resignation of members rendering it 

inquorate.  

Under Section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972, where there are so many vacancies in office of 

parish councillor that the parish council is unable to act, the Principal Council (“the Council”) may 

by order appoint persons to fill all or any vacancies until other councillors are elected or co-opted 

and take up office.  

NOW in pursuance of s91 of the Local Government Act 1972 Boston Borough Council hereby 

appoint the following persons to act as members of Kirton Parish Council until such time as 

councillors are elected or co-opted and take up office whereupon such appointments will cease. 

Councillor David Brown 

Councillor Nigel Welton 

Lincolnshire County Councillor Alison Austin 

Lincolnshire County Councillor Michael Brookes 

 

The COMMON SEAL of Boston Borough Council was hereunto affixed in the presence of: 

 

 

 

A duly authorised signatory 

 

  

Page 63



Appendix B 

Procedure for Making Temporary Appointments to Parish Councils 

 

This process enables Boston Borough Council to make an Order to appoint persons to Parish 

Councils in the Borough area in accordance with Section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972.  

 

1. The Clerk to a Parish Council notifies Boston Borough Council that their authority is unable 

to operate due to being inquorate.  

2. Electoral Services verifies the number of seats on that council and that it is inquorate.  They 

also identify the minimum number of appointments required in order for the parish council 

to be quorate.  

3. All ward members in the ward in which the parish council is located will be offered the 

opportunity to be appointed to the council as a temporary appointment until such time as 

the vacancies are filled by election or co-option.  Where there are insufficient Borough ward 

members available for appointment to achieve a quorum, or there are more seats vacant 

than ward members, the relevant County division member(s) may also be approached.  

4. All appointments will end once sufficient members are elected or co-opted to the parish 

council. 

5. In the event that insufficient ward and county members are available and willing to be 

appointed in order to make up a quorum, the Returning Officer is authorised to appoint any 

other person, following consultation with the Borough ward member(s) for the parish 

affected and the Parish Clerk. 

6. In the event that no appointments can be made, the parish council will remain inquorate 

until elections are held resulting in sufficient numbers of parish councillors to be quorate.  

7. In accordance with Section 91 (3) of the local Government Act 1972, the Returning Officer 

will send two copies of the Order to the Secretary of State.  This will also be copied to the 

Clerk.   

Page 64



Document is Restricted

Page 65

Agenda Item 5
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A. MINUTES
	Council Minutes - 1 March 2021
	Council AGM Minutes - 26 May 2021
	Council Minutes - 28 June 2021
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	1 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES
	3 INQUORATE PARISH COUNCIL
	5 HONORARY FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH

